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Key figures in accordance with IFRS

 
Unit

 
31.12.2011

 
31.12.2012

Change (in percent /  
percentage points)

Bicycles produced (rounded) Quantity 664,000 550,000 -17,2

Bicycles sold (rounded) Quantity 644,000 546,000 -15.2

E-bikes sold (rounded) Quantity 27,000 47,000 +75.6

Revenues EUR million 100.5 111.3 +10.7

Gross profit margin  % 32.6 32.7 +0.1

EBITDA (adjusted for extraordinary effects) EUR million 7.3 6.3 -13.7

EBITDA margin (adjusted for 
extraordinary effects)

 
 % 

 
7.2

 
5.7

 
-1.5

EBIT (adjusted for extraordinary effects) EUR million 4.6 2.9 -37.0

EBIT margin (adjusted for extraordinary effects)  % 4.6 2.6 -2.0

Consolidated net profit (adjusted 
for extraordinary effects)

 
EUR million

 
2.0

 
1.1

 
-45.0

EBITDA EUR million 7.3 4.2 -42.5

EBITDA margin  % 7.2 3.8 -3.4

EBIT EUR million 4.6 0.8 -82.6

EBIT margin  % 4.6 0.7 -3.9

Consolidated net profit EUR million 2.0 -1.0 n.a.

Capital expenditure on intangible assets 
and property, plant, and equipment

 
EUR million

 
0.9

 
4.4

 
+388.9

Employees (average) Number 610 768 +25.9

Personnel expense ratio  % 12,0 14.3 +2.3

Balance sheet total EUR million 63.9 101.9 +59.5

Equity EUR million 28.0 38.9 +38.9 

Equity ratio  % 43.8 38.1 -5.7

»  Increase In revenues oF 10.7 %  
to EUR 111.3 million

»  47,000  
e-bIkes sold

»  ebItda MarGIn (adjusted) 
aMounts to 5.7 % 

»  InvestMents  
oF EUR 4.4 million
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01 
FroM voluMe  
to MarGIn



4  

2012 was a year of new beginnings for mIFA. With the acquisition of the premium GRACE and steppenwolf 
brands, we opened wide the door to the high-margin specialist dealer segment, acquiring valuable technology, 
design and marketing know-how. The Grace takeover brought us a major order from the automotive sector 
which draws us close to a market of the future in the shape of e-mobility. We have been producing the smart 
ebike since september 2012 on a production plant that we developed especially for this purpose. This plant 
meets automotive standards, and is still unique in the bicycle sector in 2013 – a quality reference that will help 
us to acquire further industrial customers.

Above all, however, we have acquired entrepreneurs with visions for mIFA who are masters of their daily 
business, and think well beyond it. marketing professional michael hecken and e-bike Guru Karlheinz Nicolai, 
Grace's founders, created an e-bike brand from scratch that sets technology and design benchmarks. hecken 
and Nicolai have headed up mIFA's marketing / strategy and technical development areas since 2012. mIFA 
consequently operates its own development department for the first time, enabling it to convert demand 
trends into marketable bicycle models more rapidly than to date. Andreas and Roland liertz, creators of the cult 
steppenwolf brand, are sales and marketing professionals who are familiar with the specialist dealer sector, and 
speak its language fluently.

Why does this fit with mIFA? As the largest producer of bicycles for the German self-service retail sector, we have 
increasingly automated our production and logistics over recent years. Today, we produce around 25 % of all 
bicycles produced in Germany, we are the sector's cost-leader, and can probably describe ourselves as Europe's 
most efficient bicycle factory. This success is also based on a vision: all German citizens should be able to afford 
a good bicycle at a reasonable price.

Data produced by the German Two-Wheeler Industry Association (ZIv) show that people are increasingly 
prepared to spend a little more in order to buy a high-quality and durable bicycle; brands are becoming more 
important. For this reason, we aim to serve all levels of German society in the medium term with a brand to 
which they can relate. our core business, the sale of bicycles to wholesalers and retailers, forms an indispensable 

„  We are looking to double our 
revenues over the next 4 to  
6 years to EUR 200 million and 

to increase our EBIT margin  
to between 7 and 9 %.

peter WIcht | ceo sInce 2004 |  
ManaGInG dIrector 1996-2004 
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Founded in 1907, mIFA was a state-owned enterprise (vEB) in the GDR and was taken over by Peter 
Wicht and his business partner, michael lehmann, in 1996. During the takeover year, the company sold 
35,000 bicycles. In 2004, mIFA already ranked as Germany‘s largest bicycle manufacturer, with an output 
of some 737,000 bicycles. mIFA continues to enjoy this status and is able to tap economies of scale for 
purchasing and production.

MIFa revenues

2010 2011 2012 2016-2018e*

76.5

100.5
111.3

200in EUR million

* Medium-term forecast of Management Board

basis of our growth strategy in this context. The GRACE and steppenwolf brands also benefit from our know-
how and economies of scale in purchasing and production – with the related acquisitions becoming a genuine 
win-win situation. We also operate the most extensive service network in the German bicycle sector. many 
of our customers buy from us because of our reliability in aftersales service – particularly where technically 
complex e-bikes are concerned. Third-party companies and end-customers will also be able to utilise mIFA's 
service product even more easily in the future through our web presence.

In financial terms, we will focus on profitability in the future. our EBIT margin is to rise to between 7 and 9 % over 
the coming four to six years, with revenue growing to EUR 200 million. We have already made good progress 
on our way "from volume producer to brand manufacturer" in 2012, a year of new beginnings for us. Despite 
the expense of integrating two corporate acquisitions, revenue was up by 10.7 % to EUR 111.3 million; e-bikes 
comprised 30.0 % of total revenue, compared with 12.5 % in the previous year. The extraordinary expenses for 
integrating both companies – around EUR 2.0 million – were not yet offset by any notable income in 2012. This 
will change: we already anticipate growth impulses to come from GRACE and steppenwolf in the current year. 

We would like to take this opportunity to warmly thank our shareholders for the confidence and trust that 
they invested in us in the 2012 financial year – especially in connection with the successful capital increase in 
July. our special thanks are also due to our employees for their indefatigable commitment and work on our 
company's behalf. They are laying the cornerstone for a new era for mIFA. For this reason, I would like to present 
some key mIFA individuals to you on the following pages of this annual report. 

Your Peter Wicht
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one – the flagship of Grace brand

2010 2011 2012

1.6

12.5

30.0in %

share oF e-bIkes oF 
MIFa's total revenues
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According to the German Two-Wheeler Industry Association 
(ZIv), more than five times as many e-bikes were sold in 2012 
(380,000 units) as in 2007. Their market share is set to grow 
from 10 % currently to 15 % in the medium term. In 2012, 
mIFA sold 47,000 e-bikes, representing an 76 % year-on-year 
increase and a 12 % market share . With its integrated design 
and by targeting the specialist trade, mIFA intends to further 
increase its market share and become an e-bike pioneer. 
The target group is made up of successful, design-conscious 
young people, who value sustainability.

MIchael hecken |  
head oF MarketInG and strateGy sInce 2012 |  
Founder and ManaGInG dIrector oF Grace GMbh & co. kG sInce 2010

27,000 e-bIkes 2011

47,000 e-bIkes 2012

„  the market for e-bikes is currently 
where the market for mobile phones 
was in 1995. We want to change this 
and target the design-conscious 
"Apple generation" with an 
integrated design.
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since september 2012, the "smart ebike" has been manufactured on a production 
system, developed together with Daimler. Each individual component must satisfy 
defined criteria; all assembly steps are monitored and documented by an ERP 
system. This system is also coupled with a quality management system. Two specially 
developed test benches enable almost absolute quality control. This production 
system is unique within the bicycle industry. mIFA intends to extend the technology 
to additional products over time.

karlheInz nIcolaI |  
head oF developMent sInce 2012 |
Founder and ManaGInG dIrector 
oF Grace GMbh & co. kG sInce 2010

„  For the "smart ebike", we are now  
manufacturing on a production 
system we developed 
ourselves that also meets 
automotive standards 
– and sets benchmarks 
within the bicycle industry.
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an employee of MIFa checks the torque during construction of a "smart ebike"



10  „  We are able to achieve 
economies of scale 
in purchasing as we 
produce very large 
unit volumes in our 
core business.

For many years, mIFA has produced bicycles to 
order for large German department stores, primarily 
under white labels. Fixed delivery quotas are agreed 
upon year after year, making mIFA's core business 
predictable. Purchasing of materials is highly scalable 
as many of the components are identical across the 
model groups. An essential unique selling proposition 
of mIFA is the fact that it boasts the largest nationwide 
service network for bicycles with a call centre in 
sangerhausen and service partners in the field. 

MaIk Walther | head  
oF purchasInG and 

controllInG sInce 2003
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„  We are well-established 
among our major 
customers in self-
service retailing and 
are clearly distinguished 
from competitors thanks 
to our aftersales 
service.

jens Matthes | key account  
ManaGer (retaIlInG) sInce 1996

2010 2011 2012

31.5

32.6
32.7in %

* as percentage of total output

Gross proFIt MarGIn*
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steppenwolf is a munich-based bicycle forging company which has stood for 
sports bikes in the upper price segment since 1995. The brand is well-established 
with specialist wholesalers and retailers and enjoys an excellent image in cycling 
circles. mIFA also intends to exploit these benefits when marketing the GRACE 
bicycles to the specialist trade.

andreas lIertz |  
key account ManaGer (specIalIst trade) sInce 2012 |  

Founder and ManaGInG dIrector oF steppenWolF sInce 1996

„  With the takeover of 
Steppenwolf, MIFa has 
multiplied its number of 
customers in the specialist 
trade in one swoop.
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nuMber oF specIalIst trade custoMers 
beFore takeover oF steppenWolF: ca. 100

nuMber oF specIalIst trade custoMers 
aFter takeover oF steppenWolF: ca. 350

tao light – a typical mountainbike of steppenwolf brand
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annual  
productIon capacIty:  
ca. 1.06 million bicycles

lacInG oF Wheels  
by autoMatIon  

4-times more productive

hIGh rack WarehousInG  
For up to 40,000 bicycles

high rack warehouse for finished bicycles
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„  I do not know of any 
bicycle factory in europe 
which produces such large 
quantities as efficiently as 
MIFa. production is fully 
automated in many areas.

MarIta Westphal |  
head oF productIon sInce 1999

 » Fully-automated wheel lacing facility
 »  Wheel assembly with  
computer controlled alignment

 » small parts warehouse since spring 2012
 » Fully-automated painting
 » Fully-automated packaging line
 » high rack warehousing
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 ralF poschMann | vIce chaIrMan oF  
the supervIsory board sInce 2012 and Mayor  

oF the cIty oF sanGerhausen (saxony-anhalt)

„  as Germany’s largest 
manufacturer of bicycles 
in terms of sales, MIFa is the 
largest employer in our 
region, with more than 1,000 
employees during the bicycle 
season.

2010 2011 2012

491

610

768

nuMber oF eMployees* 

* annual average (on head count basis)
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employee of MIFa sets an e-bike for deutsche post
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September
 start of production for "smart ebikes"

October
 Prototype for the chainless e-bike

October
 Complete takeover of Grace

February
  Commissioning of a fully automated  

small parts warehouse

March 
  Takeover of 51 % of the shares in  

Berlin-based e-bike manufacturer Grace

hIGhlIGhts 2012
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March
  mIFA builds the volks-E-Bike ("people´s 

e-bike") in a cooperation with "BIlD-
Zeitung"

May
  mIFA and the leipzig-based bike  

hire company nextbike supply bicycles  
for the city of Warsaw

May
  General meeting agrees on authorised  

capital of EUR 4 million

July
  successful capital increase and  

uplisting in the Prime standard

August
  Takeover of all significant assets in the munich-based  

bicycle forging company steppenwolf
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supervIsory board report

During the 2012 financial year, the supervisory Board monitored the work of the CEo pursuant to the law and 
the company’s articles of association, and was available to provide consultation and advice. As usual, cooperation 
between the CEo and the supervisory Board was constructive and open. During the course of the year under 
review, the supervisory Board was informed concerning the progress of business, the company’s position, and 
all important business transactions in various meetings and conference calls. Also outside of the meetings, the 
supervisory Board received regular verbal and written reports on current developments from the CEo: Installed 
management Reporting was established in the 2011 financial year and supplied detailed information about the 
sales trends, earnings and liquidity situation of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG. The specific organisation of 
management Reporting was refined during the year under review and further harmonised with the monitoring 
function of the supervisory Board. This ensures that the supervisory Board is continually able to obtain a view of 
the financial position, net assets and results of operations of the company and, where necessary, act in accordance 
with its function. 

mEmBERs oF ThE sUPERvIsoRY BoARD,  
ChANGEs To ThE sUPERvIsoRY AND mANAGEmENT BoARD
In the 2012 financial year, the supervisory Board of mIFA was made up of the following members:

 » Uwe lichtenhahn, mannheim (Chairman), former Director of a sparkasse

 »  hans Joachim Rust, Gau-Algesheim (vice Chairman, until 11 may 2012), head of Risk management, 
mCE-Bank Gmbh

 » Ralf Poschmann, sangerhausen (vice Chairman since 11 may 2012), mayor of the City of sangerhausen

 »  Professor Dr.-Ing. Klaus-Dietrich Kramer, Berga (member of the supervisory Board since 28 February 2012), 
head of the Institut für Automatisierung und Informatik Gmbh (Institute for Automation and Computer 
science) Centre for Research and Development, Wernigerode

The 2012 financial year saw changes to the members of the supervisory Board. With effect as of the end of the 
General meeting on 11 may 2012, mr. hans Joachim Rust, who was until that point vice Chairman of the supervisory 
Board, resigned his supervisory Board seat. he was followed by mr. Ralf Poschmann, the mayor for the City of 
sangerhausen. mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG sees this as an important acknowledgement of its significant 
commitment to its location and adherence to its one-location policy. By way of a court order, Prof. Dr.-Ing. Klaus-

uWe lIchtenhahn | superIvIsory board chaIrMan



To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements   23

Dietrich Kramer was already appointed to the supervisory Board on 28 February 2012; this decision was ratified by 
the General meeting. As managing shareholder of the Institut für Automatisierung und Informatik in Wernigerode, 
he contributes a proven competency in the field of automation technology and the CEo and supervisory Board are 
confident that he will make a decisive contribution to ensuring the technical production expertise of the company. 
The supervisory Board and CEo would like to thank the retiring supervisory Board member, hans Joachim Rust, 
for his dedication and his unfailingly trustworthy and profitable cooperation and wish him the very best and every 
success for the future. The 2012 financial year saw no changes to the management Board of mIFA. mr. Peter Wicht 
remains sole CEo. 

CommITTEEs
The supervisory Board of mIFA AG consists of just three members and for this reason has not formed any committees. 
Due to its small size, the supervisory Board is in the position to deal with any issues which may arise efficiently and 
confidentially during meetings of the full supervisory Board. 

sUPERvIsoRY BoARD mEETINGs
During the 2012 financial year, four ordinary meetings of the supervisory Board were held and various conference 
calls and written resolutions took place. The main focus of the work of the supervisory Board in the 2012 financial 
year involved the increase in capital and, at the same time, admission to listing on the Regulated market (Prime 
standard) on the Frankfurt stock Exchange in July 2012, as well as the takeovers of Grace and steppenwolf. There 
were also intensive discussions about market trends, the competitive situation, and the company’s risk management. 
The key topics also included fundamental questions relating to business policy, investment and financial planning 
as well as the medium-term objectives of the company. 

During its meeting on 16 march 2012, the supervisory Board devoted its attention to the planned takeover of 
Grace Gmbh & Co. KG. Changes to the supervisory Board were also discussed: Firstly, member Professor Dr.-Ing. 
Klaus-Dietrich Kramer who was legally appointed to the supervisory Board on 28 February 2012 was introduced; 
subsequently, hans Joachim Rust, vice Chairman of the supervisory Board, notified the supervisory Board of his 
resignation with effect after the General meeting on 11 may 2012.

During its meeting on 23 march 2012, the supervisory Board was concerned with the CEo's business progress 
report 2011 and the current business activities, with the proposal concerning the application of net retained profits 
in the 2011 annual financial statements as well as the proposals concerning discharging the CEo and supervisory 
Board in the 2011 financial year. The annual financial statements for the 2011 financial year were discussed in detail 
and approved. The supervisory Board concluded its report to the General meeting. It also concluded its proposal 
to the General meeting for the selection of mittelrheinische Treuhand Gmbh, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, - 
steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Erfurt, as the auditors for the 2012 financial year.

During its meeting on 11 may 2012, the supervisory Board elected Ralf Poschmann, mayor of the City of 
sangerhausen, as its vice Chairman. Peter Wicht was also appointed as CEo of the company for a further five 
years. his term of office was extended to 10 may 2017. The supervisory Board considers this reappointment as an 
important step towards ensuring the long-term success of the company. During the many years of his term of office, 
mr. Peter Wicht has represented a decisive factor in the success story of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and 
has always carried out his duties to the complete satisfaction of the supervisory Board. The supervisory Board was 
also occupied with the business progress in the first quarter of 2012 and the outlook for the 2012 financial year.

In June / July 2012, the purpose of various conference calls and supervisory Board resolutions adopted by 
circulation procedure was the subscription rights capital increase which was planned at the time and successfully 
carried out along with the simultaneous admission to the Regulated market (Prime standard) of the Frankfurt stock 
Exchange. In a detailed discussion, the supervisory Board resolved to increase the company's share capital through 
issuing 1.6 million new ordinary bearer shares. To this end, a portion of the authorised capital was utilised by the 
General meeting on 11 may 2012. The supervisory Board also approved upon the corresponding amendment to 
the articles of association. During its meeting on 11 october 2012, the supervisory Board devoted its attention to 
the development of the company in the third quarter of 2012 as well as to the prospects for the entire year: Further 
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strategic planning regarding the companies taken over during the year under review, Grace and steppenwolf, was 
also subject of discussion. 

In the 2012 financial year, no members of the supervisory Board participated in less than half of the meetings of 
the supervisory Board.

CoRPoRATE GovERNANCE
The supervisory Board attaches importance to carrying out its supervisory functions continuously and with great 
intensity. This self-commitment will continue to characterise its activities in the future. In this connection, the 
CEo and supervisory Board have issued a declaration of conformity to the German Corporate Governance Code 
which is available on the company's website (www.mifa.de) and drafted a corporate governance report which is 
reproduced in the annual report. The company's CEo and supervisory Board express a clear commitment to the 
guiding principles of the Government Commission according to which the regulations for corporate management 
and governance applicable in Germany should be subject to a high level of transparency in order to permanently 
strengthen trust in the corporate management of German companies. In the assessment of the supervisory Board, 
there were no potential conflicts of interest in the supervisory Board during the 2012 financial year. 

AUDITING ThE ANNUAl AND CoNsolIDATED  
FINANCIAl sTATEmENTs FoR 2012
The General meeting appointed the auditing company the supervisory Board has proposed, mittelrheinische 
Treuhand Gmbh, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft – steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Erfurt, to audit the financial 
statements for the 2012 financial year. The auditors submitted a declaration of independence to the supervisory 
Board. The supervisory Board has reviewed the independence of the auditors in accordance with sect. 107 Para. 3 
sent. 3 of the German stock Corporation Act (AktG), as well as Item 7.2.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

Focal points of the audit for the period under review were the capital increase against contributions in kind in return 
for the granting of shares in the GRACE Group, the inventories – in particular the valuation of the finished goods –, 
the cost of materials and associated provisions as of the reporting date, the trade receivables, the liquidity of the 
company and the revenues. With a view to the Group, the focus was on the initial consolidation of the companies 
taken over, the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) within the framework of the acquisition of the GRACE Group as well 
as the accounting and valuation of the deferred taxes. The auditors have audited the annual financial statements 
of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and the consolidated financial statements as well as the summarised 
management Report for mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and the Group and have provided an unqualified 
audit opinion. In the course of this, the mIFA Group's early risk management system was also confirmed as being 
fit for purpose.

The responsible auditors attended the balance sheet meeting of the supervisory Board. They informed members 
about the key findings of the audit and answered more detailed questions. Following detailed inspection, the 
supervisory Board concurred with the results of the audit of the financial statements. The body also reviewed the 
consolidated financial statements, the annual financial statements of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG, the 
summarised management report for mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and the Group as well as the proposal 
concerning the application of net retained profits. As there were no objections on the part of the supervisory Board, 
the annual financial statements of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and consolidated financial statements 
were approved. The supervisory Board approved the summarised management report and the assessment for the 
further development of the Group.

The supervisory Board also would like to thank the CEo and all staff members for their work and commitment.

sangerhausen, April 2013

on behalf of the supervisory Board

Uwe lichtenhahn (supervisory Board Chairman)
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shARE PRICE PERFoRmANCE 
The mIFA share reported an overall positive trend in the 2012 financial year. While the sDAX appreciated by 
17.3 % over the year, the mIFA share was up by 18.5 % as of 28 December 2012, closing at EUR 7.65. At the end 
of the first quarter of 2013 the price of the mIFA share was EUR 6.80.

share

AprilMarch May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan. 2013 Feb. MarchFeb.Jan. 2012

9.0

8.5

8.0

7.5

7.0

11.0

11.5

10.5

10.0

9.5

6.5

6.0

5.5

SDAX (subscripted)
Share price performance
in EURMIFA. Trading center: Frankfurt

shARE PERFoRmANCE ChART (As oF 28 mARCh 2013)

shARE DATA (As oF 28 mARCh 2013)

IsIN DE000A0B95Y8

German securities Identification Number (WKN) A0B95Y

Ticker symbol FW1

sector Consumer goods

segment Bicycle manufacturer

Company headquarters location sangerhausen (saxony-Anhalt), Germany

market segment / stock exchange Prime standard / Frankfurt stock Exchange

Designated sponsor equinet Bank AG, süddeutsche Aktienbank AG

share capital EUR 9,798,926

Number of shares 9,798,926 ordinary bearer shares

market cap EUR 66.6 million

Free float (Definition: Deutsche Börse AG) 48.5 %

Initial listing 17 may 2004

End of the financial year 31 December
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shAREholDER sTRUCTURE 
based on all voting rights notifications submitted to 
the company (as of 28 march 2013)

44.7 %*
Free float

3.8 %
AFM Holding GmbH

24.0 %
Peter Wicht 
and family

27.5 %
Carsten Maschmeyer 
and family

* according to the definition of Deutsche Börse AG: 48.5 %

ANNUAl GENERAl mEETING 2012
At the annual general meeting on 11 may 2012, 69.49 % of 
the share capital was represented; all agenda items were 
accepted with approval rates of more than 99 %. Agenda 
items included amongst others new elections to the 
supervisory Board. The General meeting also authorised 
the CEo to increase the share capital, with supervisory 
Board assent, until 10 may 2017, once or on several 
occasions, by up to EUR 4.0 million through issuing up to 
4.0 million new ordinary shares (authorised capital).

CAPITAl INCREAsE AND 
UPlIsTING IN ThE PRImE 
sTANDARD
In July 2012, mIFA successfully performed a capital 
increase with indirect subscription rights for 
shareholders, which was entered in the commercial 
register on 13 July 2012. To this end, partial utilisation 
was made of the aforementioned authorisation of 
the CEo by the General meeting of 11 may 2012. 
The company’s share capital was increased from 
EUR 8.0 million to EUR 9.6 million by issuing 1.6 million 
new ordinary bearer shares in a 5:1 subscription ratio. 
The subscription price stood at EUR 7.00, and the 
subscription ratio for the new shares exceeded 99 %. 

Peter Wicht and Carsten maschmeyer, the company‘s 
two main shareholders, waived the exercise of all 
their subscription rights. The corresponding new 
shares were placed among qualified investors in an 
accelerated bookbuilding process already before 
the subscription period started. This pre-placing 
allowed mIFA to more broadly diversify its shareholder 
structure, as planned, and to significantly increase its 
free float. With the capital increase, mIFA generated 
EUR 11.2 million of gross issue proceeds; the net issue 
proceeds stood at EUR 10.3 million. The transaction 
was managed by Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG, as 
sole Global Coordinator and sole Bookrunner, while 
equinet Bank AG and süddeutsche Aktienbank AG 
acted as selling agents. 

All mIFA shares have also been admitted to trading in 
the Prime standard of the Frankfurt stock Exchange 
since 17 July 2012. Consequently, they are now 
subject to the highest transparency standards. mIFA 
shares were previously traded on the Regulated 
Unofficial market of the munich stock Exchange 
(m:access). The mIFA share has already been listed 
since 29 June in liquid XETRA trading, with equinet 
Bank AG and süddeutsche Aktienbank AG functioning 
as the designated sponsor.

CAPITAl INCREAsE AGAINsT 
CoNTRIBUTIoNs IN KIND To 
ACQUIRE A mINoRITY INTEREsT 
IN GRACE
In september and october 2012, mIFA acquired 
the remaining 49 % interest in Berlin-based e-bike 
manufacturer Grace Gmbh & Co KG, as planned. 
Based on the supervisory Board resolution of 
11 october 2012, mIFA exercised the purchase option 
which was contractually agreed when acquiring its 
51 % majority interest in Grace in march 2012; Grace 
is consequently now a 100 % subsidiary of mIFA. A 
total of 198,926 new ordinary bearer mIFA shares were 
issued to previous Grace shareholders michael hecken 
and Karlheinz Nicolai for the purchase of the remaining 
shares. hecken and Nicolai, who were previously also 
active as managing directors of Grace, have started 
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to work on mIFA’s behalf since the majority takeover, 
heading up the marketing / strategy and technical 
development areas. The new shares were created 
through a capital increase against contributions in 
kind from authorised capital, which mIFA’s General 
meeting approved on 11 may 2012. mIFA’s share capital 
increased, with the entry in the commercial register on 
18 December 2012, from previously EUR 9,600,000 to 
currently EUR 9,798,926; admission onto the Frankfurt 
stock Exchange was approved on 23 January 2013. 
hecken and Nicolai have committed themselves to 
hold their new shares for a period of at least five years.

INvEsToR RElATIoNs
Especially following the uplisting in the Prime standard, 
mIFA wishes to strengthen and continuously expand its 
relationships with its shareholders. As a consequence, 
mIFA attaches importance to communicating 
regularly and transparently with its target groups, 
informing them constantly about the company’s 
development. This should be ensured through the 
regular publication of relevant announcements, 
detailed financial reporting, and continuous personal 
contact with investors, analysts, journalists and the 
interested public. 

The CEo and the senior management of mIFA 
therefore regularly participate in investor days and 
capital market conferences, including the German 
Equity Forum of Deutsche Börse AG in Frankfurt am 
main. In september 2012, mIFA was also represented 
at the 2nd Prior Börse Capital market Conference in 
Egelsbach and in November 2012 at the 1st small Cap 
Forum in stuttgart. mIFA was also able to explain the 
business model to investors in one-on-one discussions 
at roadshows in Zurich, london, Paris, Amsterdam, 
Brussels, hamburg and Frankfurt. 

ANAlYsTs’ RECommENDATIoNs
on 28 march 2013, the mIFA share was covered at 
regular intervals by three analysts: 

 »  Alexandra schlegel (Berenberg Capital markets llC), 

 » Ingbert Faust (equinet Bank AG) 

 » Tim Kruse (montega Research AG). 

on 28 march 2013, all three research houses 
recommended the mIFA share as a buy.

FINANCIAl CAlENDAR
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28 may 2013 Annual General meeting 2013

06 June 2013 1. German small & mid Cap 
Investors Conference, london
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GRoUP sTRUCTURE AND 
BUsINEss oPERATIoNs

Group structure

Grace GmbH & Co. KG Steppenwolf Bavaria GmbH

MIFA Mitteldeutsche 
Fahrradwerke AG

The mIFA Group, which is based in sangerhausen 
in Germany's saxony-Anhalt region, ranks 
as one of Europe's largest manufacturers of 
bicycles. The Group consisted solely of mIFA 
mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG until the takeover 
of Grace in march 2012. As the Group parent 
company, mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG 
continues to be responsible for strategic planning 
and all central activities such as finance / controlling, 
corporate communications, human resources, quality 
management, purchasing, sales and marketing, legal 
and compliance. 

Takeover of Berlin-based e-bike 
manufacturer Grace
on 27 march 2012, we acquired 51 % of the shares of 
each of the following companies belonging to the 
GRACE Group, a Berlin-based manufacturer, which 
offers e-bikes exclusively in the superior price segment:

 » Grace verwaltungs Gmbh

 » Grace Gmbh & Co. KG

 » e-fab mobility Gmbh

An option for mIFA to take over the remaining shares 
was agreed in the purchase contract. In this context, 
existing Grace shareholders michael hecken and 
Karlheinz Nicolai obligated themselves to contributing 
their remaining 47 % interest as part of a capital increase 
against non-cash capital contributions. mIFA issued a 
total of 198,926 new ordinary bearer mIFA shares to 
the former Grace shareholders in December 2012 as 
consideration in exchange. hecken and Nicolai, who 
were previously also active as managing directors 
of Grace, have started to work on mIFA's behalf 
since the takeover, heading up the mIFA Group's 
marketing / strategy and technical development 

Group ManaGeMent report
for mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and the mIFA Group for the 2012 financial year

areas. The new shares were created through a capital 
increase against non-cash capital contributions from 
authorised capital, which mIFA's General meeting 
approved on 11 may 2012. This increased mIFA's share 
capital from previously EUR 9,600,000 to EUR 9,798,926, 
with the shares being admitted to trading on the 
Frankfurt stock Exchange on 23 January 2013. hecken 
and Nicolai have committed themselves to hold their 
new shares for a period of at least five years. Please refer 
to pages 77f and 88 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for more information about the 
takeover of Grace.

Takeover of Munich-based bicycle 
manufacturer Steppenwolf
on 21 August 2012, we acquired all significant 
assets of the munich-based bicycle manufacturer 
steppenwolf. The steppenwolf brand has stood for 
high-quality sports bikes in the superior price segment 
since 1995. They are sold through qualified German 
specialist bicycle dealers. We acquired steppenwolf's 
significant assets in the form of an asset deal through 
a specially founded subsidiary, steppenwolf Bavaria 
Gmbh. We bought steppenwolf's brand rights and 
customer relationships, as well as its sales, marketing 
and service operations. Andreas and Roland liertz,  
steppenwolf's sales and marketing experts, also stayed 
with the company. steppenwolf had announced 
its insolvency on 26 July 2012, with insolvency 
proceedings commencing on 21 August 2012. 

Business operations

Operating segments: Classic bicycles, 
e-bikes and aftersales services

Products Aftersales services

Classic bicycles

E-bikes

We primarily produce and market classic bicycles 
and e-bikes to specialist dealers and retailers as well 
as industrial companies in Western Europe, and can 
describe ourselves as Germany's largest manufacturer 
of bicycles in terms of unit numbers produced. our 
share of German bicycle production stood at around 
25 % in 2012. We also offer aftersales service to 
underpin our sales and marketing efforts.
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Classic bicycles and e-bikes: MIFA – Germany's 
largest manufacturer in terms of sales
our product range can be split into two areas:

 »  Classic bicycles: We offer almost the entire 
range of conventional types of bicycle. The range 
primarily comprises comfort bikes (city and trekking 
bikes, Dutch and touring bikes, children and young 
people's bikes as well as folding and foldable bikes) 
and sports bikes (mountain bikes, racing bikes, 
fitness bikes).

 »  Electric bikes: In view of social megatrends, we 
have also offered electric bikes on a large scale 
since 2011, in other words, bicycles with electric 
motors as drives. They can be ridden like normal 
bicycles when the electric motor is unengaged. 
Electric bikes come in the following constructions, 
although we almost exclusively offer the former:

•  Pedelecs (pedal electric cycles) are bicycles with 
electric support that relies on pedalling. The built-
in electric motor is activated when pedalling 
starts, supporting the cyclist's pedalling up to 
a maximum of 250 W. The degree of support 
can be set at several levels, and depends on 
the cyclist's pedalling power and frequency. 
Pedelecs are legally equivalent to bicycles – with 
the exception of fast pedelecs (s-pedelecs). In 
the case of s-pedelecs, the electric support is 
not switched off until a speed of 45 km / h is 
reached, while conventional pedelecs provide 
support only up to a speed of 25 km / h.

•  By contrast with pedelecs, e-bikes in the 
narrower sense of the term have electric 
drives that are independent of pedalling, and 
are comparable to electric mopeds. The motor 
generates a maximum speed of 20 km / h, with 
faster travel possible only through the cyclist's 
own pedalling power.

  The section entitled "stable legal environment" 
in this annual report (pages 40f ) provides details 
about the legal status of electric bikes.

 Aftersales services: MIFA offers largest service 
network among German manufacturers
 We operate the largest service network of its type 
among German bicycle manufacturers. It is structured 
as follows:

 »  our central in-house call centre in sangerhausen 
receives customer telephone enquiries from 
monday to Friday, which are directed to mIFA 
through a service hotline that operates across the 
whole of Germany. The on-average 9 call centre 

staff respond to customer queries, deal with 
complaints, and provide assembly, repair and 
maintenance instructions by telephone if required. 
more than 50 % of all customer matters can already 
be handled by telephone as a consequence.

 »  If the customer problem or matter cannot be 
solved by telephone, our mobile service team 
is deployed. It consists of 15 in-house employees 
and subcontractors on average during the year. 
This team carries out all warranty services for our 
customers across the whole of Germany. In essence, 
this might be relevant for major customers such 
as retail chains which do not operate their own 
workshops, or employ correspondingly trained 
staff. The service team is also available for end-
customers. 

The "Aftersales services" division augments and 
supports our core business through establishing 
significantly stronger customer loyalty, particularly 
with major customers such as retail and industrial 
companies. Apart from spare parts sales, customer 
services are generally invoiced as part of the product 
price. If required, we also offer our mobile services 
for a fee to other bicycle manufacturers that have 
no comparable service network. In terms of IT, the 
service network is supported by a fully integrated IT 
infrastructure and clear reporting function.

Value chain
our value chain comprises purchasing, preproduction 
steps such as lacing and painting, and final assembly 
of bicycles, as well as warehousing and sales. These 
processes are supported by a refined logistics system, 
and backed up by quality assurance measures. since 
the acquisitions in the 2012 financial year, we also 
conduct our own research and development activities 
at Biesenthal site – the still existent original site of 
Grace. To these are added our aftersales services, 
which are presented in section "Aftersales services" of 
this annual report.

mIFA's vAlUE ChAIN

Logistic/Quality assurance

Purchasing
Preproduction 

and final 
assembly

Warehousing 
and dispatch

Research and development

Sales 
and 

marketing

Aftersales 
services
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Purchasing: economies of scale
Purchasing enjoys a high priority in bicycle production. 
our business is affected by prices for raw materials 
such as metals, plastics and rubber, for example. 
Bicycles consist of components such as frames, gears, 
brakes, tyres, chainsets, handlebars, forks, seat posts, 
saddles, and suspension components. Electric bikes 
also include electric drive systems, batteries and 
control systems. We purchase all such components 
from specialised manufacturers and distributors that 
rank among the sector's technology leaders; well-
known names include shimano and sRAm. In the 
case of e-bikes, too, we work together with renowned 
manufacturers: in the drives area, motors and systems, 
among other components, are constructed by Bosch 
and BionX; in the batteries area, we cooperate with 
Phylion, Porta Power, hightec and BmZ, for example. 

We generally produce our bicycles on the basis of 
orders, and consequently do not place orders with 
our suppliers until we have received orders from 
our customers. We nevertheless realise considerable 
economies of scale in purchasing thanks to our 
relationships with our suppliers – relationships that 
have been firmly in place for many years. In doing 
so, we generally pursue a multi-supplier strategy, 
although this does not exclude a certain dependency 
on individual major suppliers: in particular, Paul lange 
exclusively distributes gears produced by market-
leader shimano. 

Preproduction and final assembly:  
automation and automotive standards

Volume business: cost-efficiency through 
automation

We assemble all bicycles and e-bikes at our plant 
in sangerhausen, with the exception of the "one" 
model produced by our Group subsidiary Grace, 
which is still manufactured in small series volumes 
at Grace's original site in Biesenthal. In the volume 
business, we place a high priority on a high degree 
of automation, which for years has secured us cost-
leadership accompanied by unchanged good 
processing quality. Automation allows the plant's 
maximum production capacity to currently run at 
around 5,300 bicycles per day. This corresponds to an 
annual capacity of around 1.06 million bicycles given 
the 200 working days per year that are typical of the 
sector. our production can be flexibly adjusted to the 

seasonal progression of the bicycle sector through 
corresponding collective bargaining agreements, or 
seasonal and temporary help workers: preproduction 
for the bicycle season typically commences as early 
as November of the previous year; the high season 
comprises the months January to may. only a few 
bicycles are produced during the summer months. 
our production is structured as follows:

 »  The painting, wheelset assembly and accessory 
part pre-production stations are upstream of the 
bicycle assembly lines. Fully-automated storage 
facilities, which mIFA developed itself, also form part 
of preproduction. Compared with the manual 
storage of wheelsets, which is typical of the sector, 
automation boosts the productivity of this process 
by a factor of approximately four.

 »  In the fully automated paint shop, the frames 
are coated three times (base coat, paint, powder 
coating) and then writing and designs are added, 
before final protective coating is applied in places. 
In doing so, we make partial recourse to water-
soluble paints in order to reduce the use of solvents 
to a minimum. This three-coat painting ensures 
that the bicycle frames are shock-proof and scratch-
resistant. A barcode is placed on the bike frames for 
planning and managing production and tracking 
orders. once the frames have been painted, they 
are stored in interim storage for one to three lead 
days. The frames are then prepared for assembly, 
for example, by laying the gear and brake cables 
and, in the case of electric bikes, the more complex 
electric cabling. The painted frames are conveyed 
along production lines to their final assembly. At the 
same time, other components such as wheelsets 
and handlebars are preassembled into ready-made 
assemblies. 

 »  The core of mIFA's production comprises three 
assembly lines for the final assembly of bicycles 
that are linked to an assembly line at goods-in and 
other less labour-intensive points. The assembly 
lines are operated in a one to three shift system 
depending on the season, and are loaded to order 
via conveying systems and palates with the parts 
and components required for production. The 
production steps are split so that the learning 
phase is short for new production staff, thereby 
avoiding concerns about any quality losses. In 
the final assembly stage, the prepared frames and 
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premade assemblies are put together to form 
the completed bicycle. In order to structure this 
step more efficiently, we commissioned a fully 
automated small parts warehouse in February 2012, 
which we largely developed ourselves. This system 
automatically delivers all the necessary materials to 
the workstations that are directly accessible. Parts 
are delivered to workstations that are further away 
via a requisition station that loads components fully 
automatically (known as the "supermarket"). All 
materials required are stored in defined quantities 
in their assigned place and can be requisitioned at 
any time. They are taken from the warehouse at the 
touch of a button and fully automatically delivered 
direct to the production line.

 »  Trained staff inspect the completed bicycles on 
a random sample basis in order to ensure high 
quality standards. Following final assembly, the 
bicycles are conveyed to the logistics building 
where they are packed to order in a fully automated 
packaging line, and prepared for dispatch. The 
completed bicycles are stored in a fully automated 
high-bay warehouse that can store up to 40,000 
units at the same time. mIFA has its bicycles shipped 
exclusively by selected logistics companies.

E-bike production: automotive standards

We produce particularly high-quality bicycles such as 
e-bikes on a separate production system: because of 
the assembly and cabling of additional components, 
the production of an e-bike requires longer than for a 
conventional bicycle. 

With the takeover of Grace, we also migrated most of 
the production from Biesenthal to sangerhausen. To 
produce the bikes for the small vehicle specialist smart 
(“smart ebike”), we developed a production system 
together with Daimler in summer 2012 whose quality 
standards set of benchmarks in the bicycle industry: 
while such systems have already been utilised for 
decades in the automotive industry, they were 
unknown in the bicycle sector to date. All assembly 
process steps are monitored and documented via 
product scanners and a modern ERP system, for 
example. All parts utilised in production must satisfy 
predetermined quality requirements. We also price 
a high priority on detailed and clear documentation 
and repair instructions which our in-house specialists 
compile and maintain. Two specially developed test 

benches enable almost 100 % quality controlling of 
the completed e-bikes. This system largely meets 
automotive standards; we will also utilise it for GRACE 
brand models in the future.

Quality assurance
We place a high priority on our products' high-quality, 
and consequently operate a computer-based quality 
management system across the entire Group. All 
test data are recorded within a central database. 
Before production commences, standardised goods 
entry checks are conducted in the company's own 
test laboratory in order to ensure our bicycles' high 
quality. our testing procedures have been put proven 
over many years, and enable continuous in-process 
controlling.

We also produce according to "DIN EN Iso 9001-2008" 
standards, which are augmented by in-house testing 
standards. Among other things, mIFA examines the 
durability, workmanship and corrosion behaviour 
of its bicycles. We also ensure that natural resources 
are handled sparingly. In our purchasing area, we 
pay particular attention to information provided by 
suppliers about the environmental compatibility 
of their products and production processes – also 
above and beyond statutory requirements. We are 
also licensees of Germany's Dual system (Der Grüne 
Punkt). In the year under review, mIFA additionally 
joined a dual system that operates across the whole 
of Germany, in order to guarantee compliance with all 
statutory regulations contained in the new German 
Packaging Directive (verpackv).

Sales markets and customer groups: focus on 
retailers, specialist dealers and OEM production 
grows increasingly important
We sell our bicycles and e-bikes primarily in Western 
Europe. The focus remained on Germany in the year 
under review, with a 78.9 % share of total revenue. 
Further important sales markets include France, the 
Netherlands, Belgium, the UK, Denmark, and Austria. 
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our customers can be divided as follows: 

Wholesalers 
and retailers

In the so-called volume business, we produce to order basis for wholesale and retail 
department stores, DIY stores and discount supermarkets – especially for the self-service 
segment, which includes companies such as metro Cash & Carry, toom, Aldi süd and Aldi 
Nord, oBI, and real in Germany, Decathlon in France, and hofer in Austria. The bicycles sold 
there are distinguished by very good cost-quality relationships, and are generally offered to 
end-customers under third-party brands (white labels). 

major customers place a high priority on high quality standards, extensive aftersales service, 
and excellent service from their suppliers. our key account managers maintain personal 
contact with such customers, and most of such relationships have existed for many years. We 
mostly enter into short-term project-related agreements with major customers, as is typical of 
the bicycle sector. some sales-dependent bonus payments are agreed.

Specialist 
dealers

since 2012, we have offered classic bicycles and e-bikes in the upper price segment to 
qualified German specialist dealers under the steppenwolf and GRACE brands. We also 
generate lower levels of revenue with our own mIFA and Germatec brands in the lower to 
mid-price segments. The target group of specialist dealers comprises end-customers who 
particularly value professional advice and extensive local service. 

We contact specialist dealers on a targeted basis through our external sales force staff. Each 
such staff member attends to a particular number of dealers on a regional basis, and provides 
them with sales training, if required. The expertise of steppenwolf founders Andreas liertz 
and Roland liertz benefits us in this context. They established steppenwolf in the specialist 
dealer area since 1995 and enjoy excellent personal contacts within the sector. The number 
of our specialist dealers has risen from before 100 to around 350 as a result of the takeover of 
steppenwolf. We amend our targeted marketing of specialist dealers by regularly presenting 
our products at the Eurobike European trade fair in Friedrichshafen / Germany and at numerous 
other trade fairs.

OEM 
production 
for industrial 
customers

In our OEM business (oEm = original Equipment manufacturer), we produce on a project 
basis for selected industrial companies:

 » We have produced delivery bikes for Deutsche Post for many years, including e-bikes.

 » We have built the “smart ebike” for Daimler since late summer 2012. 

 » We exclusively produce e-bikes for UK manufacturer Wisper. 

 »  Together with leipzig-based bicycle loan company nextbike Gmbh, we have supplied 
the City of Warsaw with bicycles since late summer 2012. A total of 2,100 mIFA bicycles 
are to be offered for loan at an initial number of 125 bicycle stations in the Warsaw city 
centre in this context. 

 »  In spring and summer 2012, mIFA was involved in the "People's e-Bikes" campaign, 
which one of our major customers launched in spring 2012, and which was advertised 
in Germany's national newspaper BIlD-Zeitung. The People's e-Bike is particularly 
distinguished by its dual battery technology. This high-end e-bike is still affordable 
for a wider public as it carries a recommended retail price of less than EUR 1,000. End-
customers can buy the electric bike from large German retail businesses.

End-
customer 
(online and 
off-line)

To a lesser extent, we also sell our own brand bicycles directly to end-customers.  
such marketing occurs through our brands' webshops (www.mifa.de, www.grace.de,  
www.steppenwolf-bikes.com) and through product sales at our sites in sangerhausen und 
Berlin. The webshops list all current product groups and models along with their technical  
data and sales prices. We are also represented on Facebook with our brands, and consequently 
present in the increasingly important social media.
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Brand universe: the right bike for everyone
Bicycles are increasingly becoming products with 
high customer identification potential. Individuals are 
prepared to spend more on their bicycles, and expect 
them to retain their value for longer. Brand is one of 
the most important identification components in this 
context. A strong brand has the potential to convey 
pedigree, capabilities, performance, values, character 
and even vision. For this reason, our market profile is 
becoming increasingly oriented to our own brands. 
With GRACE and steppenwolf, we have integrated two 
already established specialist brands into our portfolio 
that carry emotional significance for customers. 
Through wholesalers and retailers, we primarily market 
bicycles under so-called white labels. our medium-
term objective is to serve all milieus of the German 
population with their own brand reflecting their own 
particular values:

 »  With the white labels and our own MIFA brand, 
we serve the price conscious middle-class that 
wishes to purchase a good bicycle at a sensible 
price.

 »  With the Steppenwolf brand, we target the 
middle-class segment customers who are 
environmentally aware, conservative in values and 
less price-sensitive, to whom topics such as a value-
retention and sustainability are important, and who 
seek durable sports bikes.

 »  With the GRACE brand, we are targeting the "Apple 
Generation" – a fun-oriented, young target public 
which is prepared to pay more for what it seeks, and 
which values integrated design and sophisticated 
technology. 

Research and development: growing importance
Until we acquired Grace, we conducted no significant 
research and development work in the actual sense 
of the term. Through close co-operation with our 
suppliers we nevertheless participated in the latest 
research and development results. We also generally 
produce to order, in other words, according to 
predetermined customer specifications, and develop 
some bicycles together with our customers. our 
project managers also design bicycles sold under our 
own brands, planning their frames and components, 
in particular.

With the takeover of Grace, we recruited its former 
managing director Karlheinz Nicolai, one of Germany's 
leading bicycling engineers, to head up mIFA's 
"Technical Development" division. Nicolai has already 
proven his high degree of technology and design 

expertise in the development of the GRACE e-bikes. 
The GRACE Easy and the “smart ebike” won a Red Dot 
Design Award in its "Product Design" category in 2012, 
among other awards garnered. For this reason, we will 
develop and offer significantly more exclusive product 
ideas in the future than we have to date. Grace's design 
department covers the entire bicycle development 
process, spanning initial design scribbles, 3-D 
models, rapid prototyping, 2-D production drawings 
and through to production process integration, for 
example. Along with the development of new frames, 
our own drive systems and centre motors will form the 
future focus in this context. The development work 
entailed in the construction of the production system 
for the “smart ebike” should also not go unmentioned.

Employees
our employees are the significant factor behind 
mIFA's long-term corporate success. We place 
particular value on training and further training across 
all departments. 10 employees completed their 
apprenticeships at our company as of the balance 
sheet date (31 December 2011: 11). Experienced mIFA 
staff also undergo continuous training at in-house 
training sessions and workshops. We also recruit 
new talents for our company through training and 
internship programs.

The average number of our employees increased from 
610 to 768 in the year under review; women comprise 
36 % of the total workforce. 
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1 Kiel Institute for the World Economy, "Weltkonjunktur im Winter 2012", 18 December 2012
2 source: Eurostat
3 German Federal statistical office, press release No. 017 published 15 January 2013 
4 GfK press release published 21 December 2012 
5 German Federal statistical office

ECoNomIC REPoRT

Economic and legal environment
our business is affected by a number of external 
factors: 

 »  From a macroeconomic perspective, it is principally 
the propensity of the Western European population 
to consume that plays a role, with this factor 
depending on gross domestic product (GDP), 
the unemployment rate, real income trends, and 
incentives to save and consume. on the purchasing 
side, we are affected by the Us dollar exchange rate 
and certain raw materials prices.

 »  As far as the bicycle market is concerned, the 
achievable market volume represents an important 
quantity; here, sales volumes and average prices 
play a role. The legal environment – regulations 
on the operation of electric bikes, state subsidy 
programs, and traffic and custom laws – also 
impacts our business.

Macroeconomic conditions
Gloomy economic data –  
Eurozone slips into recession
The global economy lost momentum in 2012 due 
to some European states' precarious debt ratios, a 
restrained Us economy, and falling growth rates in 
emerging economies. Following 3.8 % GDP growth in 
2011, the figure recorded contracted to a mere 3.2 % 
in the year elapsed. 

The European Union (EU) even slid into recession. 
Although concerted efforts by the EU Commission 
and the International monetary Fund (ImF), as well as 
bond purchases by the European Central Bank (ECB) 
helped to temporarily calm capital markets and bring 
government bond yields down, the real economy 
nevertheless proved weak, with Eurozone GDP down 
by 0.5 %.1 

Eurozone economic weakness also pushed down the 
exchange rate value of the Euro to the global reserve 
currency, the Us dollar, in which most of our materials 
costs are denominated. The rate stood at 1.2848 

UsD / EUR as of the mid-year stage, lower than at any 
point since 2006.2 This placed a particular burden on 
Eurozone industrial sectors that have high import 
ratios from third countries.

The German economy proved largely stable compared 
to many other EU countries, although price-adjusted 
GDP was up by only 0.7 % (2011: 3.0 %). While some 
investment areas registered sharp declines, exports, in 
particular, remained strong; net exports contributed 
1.1 percentage points to GDP growth. Consumption 
expenditure by the state (+1.0 %) and private 
households (+0.8 %) underpinned this positive trend.3 

German citizens' propensity to consume despite 
weaker economic output
Bicycle sales depend critically on citizens' propensity 
to spend, with consumer sentiment mostly following 
economic trends. The monthly consumer climate 
index produced by GfK, a Nuremberg-based 
consumer research company, reflects economic and 
income expectations, as well as propensity to spend, 
and provides a good indicator of German citizens' 
inclination to consume. In the year under review 
the index remained surprisingly stable, despite low 
GDP growth, reaching its highest level since 2007 
in November 2012 at 6.1 points. The fact that the 
indicator of income expectations in December was 
clearly ahead of its multi-year average at 21.2 points 
also indicates that most German citizens anticipate 
that moderate real income growth will continue in 
2013.4 This is also expressed by the savings ratio, in 
other words, the share of disposable income that 
citizens set aside instead of consuming. It stood at 
10.1 % in the final quarter of the year under review, its 
lowest level since 2002.5 

High employment levels as basis of stable 
domestic demand in Germany
The German labour market, which has proved resistant 
to the business cycle for many years, was the prime 
factor in stabilising domestic demand in Germany. 
more jobs were created, and unemployment reduced 
further, in 2012. The average unemployment rate 
stood at 6.8 % in 2012, 0.3 percentage points lower 
than in 2011, according to data produced by the 
German Federal Employment Agency. At the same 
time, the number of workers reached 41.6 million 
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6 German Federal Employment Agency – press release 002 published 3 January 2013 
7 German Federal statistical office specialist series 16 – series 2.5 – 2011
8 Kiel Institute for the World Economy, "Weltkonjunktur im Winter 2012", published 18 December 2012

on a year-average basis, the highest level since 
German reunification.6 The high employment level 
is also reflected in purchasing power: for the 11th 
consecutive quarter, the real wage index in the third 
quarter of 2012 reported no year-on-year decline. 
German citizens' nominal wages have consequently 
outstripped consumer prices since the fourth quarter 
of 2009.7 Not least, this is it due to the moderate 2.0 % 
inflation rate in the reporting year.8 

General conditions on the bicycle market
Falling production and sales volumes – rising 
sales prices
The European bicycle markets have moved sideways 
over recent years when measured in terms of unit 
volumes. The number of bicycles produced and sold 
in Europe has fluctuated by 12 million units and 
20 million units per year respectively for many years. In 
2011, the EU's largest bicycle producers included Italy 
(2.3 million units, 20 % share), Germany (2.3 million 
units, 19 %), and the Netherlands (1.2 million units, 
10 %); the largest sales markets included Germany 
(4.1 million units, 20 %), the UK (3.6 million units, 18 %), 
and France (3.2 million units, 16 %). 
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In Germany, too, unit numbers have tended to decline 
over recent years, given a base of currently 71 million 
bicycles9: whereas more than 5 million bicycles were 
delivered to German end-customers in 2000, recent 
sales figures have registered only slightly above the 
4 million level. In 2012, around 3.95 million bicycles 
were sold in Germany, whereby the figure has fallen 
even below the 4 million level.10

on a short-term basis, the weather also always affects 
bicycle sales during the annual cycling season; most 
bicycles by far are sold in the spring and summer. 
short, cold or rainy summers, in particular, affect sales 

9  Figures – Data – Facts, ZIv economy press conference at 20 march 2013 in Berlin
10 Figures – Data – Facts, ZIv economy press conference at 20 march 2013 in Berlin
11 Figures – Data – Facts, ZIv economy press conference at 20 march 2013 in Berlin

figures negatively. In consideration of the changeable 
weather during the 2012 bicycle season the deliveries 
within Germany – as expected by German Two-
Wheeler Industry Association (ZIv) – decline by 3.2 % 
to 3.97 million bicycles. The German Two-Wheeler 
Trade Association (vDZ) assumes that the 2012 UEFA 
Football Championship and the olympic Games also 
negatively impacted German bicycle sales.

The downtrend in volumes nevertheless veils positive 
value trends: bicycle sales in Germany passed the 
EUR 2 billion threshold for the first time in 2011, this 
tendency could be confirmed in 2012.
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12 Figures – Data – Facts, ZIv economy press conference at 20 march 2013 in Berlin 

13 ColIBI / ColIPED, EURoPEAN BICYClE mARKET 2012 edition. Industry & market Profile (2011 statistics)
14 sINUs / ADFC opinion research Institute, "studie Fahrrad-monitor Deutschland 2011"
15 ZIv, „mitglieder und Kennzahlen 2012“

This divergence between sales trends in terms of 
volumes and values is due to German citizens being 
more prepared to trade up. The average sales price 
per bicycle has risen continuously over recent years 
across the whole of Europe. The average price per 
bicycle in Germany has risen by an average of 6.9 % 
per year between 2007 and 2012 to reach EUR 513, 
for example.12 on a cross-Europe basis, Germany 
consequently ranks second behind the Netherlands, 
where the by-far highest sales price per bicycle is 
achieved due to tax breaks for electric bikes.13 

The rise in average bicycle prices is due to a number 
of current trends:

 »  Citizens are placing ever greater store by high 
bicycle quality: German citizens have become 
prepared to pay more over recent years according 
to a representative survey, "Bicycle monitor 2011", 
conducted by the German Federal ministry of 
Transport and the sinus Research Institute. In 
the "Bicycle monitor 2009" survey, only 13 % of 
individuals surveyed stated that they wished to 
buy a new bicycle within the next 12 months, 
compared with as many as 29 % just two years 
later. The average price that individuals stated that 
they were prepared to pay amounted to EUR 620 in 
2011, compared with just EUR 570 in 2009.14 

 »  The bicycle is becoming more popular as part of 
urban mobility. The motivation to use bicycles 
harmonises with social megatrends such as health, 
the environment and economic efficiency. 
Traffic jams clog major cities; bicycles frequently 
represent a faster, more flexible and cheaper way 
to reach a destination than cars or public transport. 
Bicycles are also regarded as trendy sports and 

fitness items. Around two thirds of all German 
citizens travel occasionally by bicycle (a few times 
per month), according to the survey; 32 % of all 
German citizens state that they wish to use bicycles 
more frequently.

The future market for e-bikes – further strong 
growth expected 
While three of five bikes continue to be sold in 
the comfort segment, the electric bike market has 
reported by far the fastest growth across the whole 
of Europe for many years.15 The one million electric 
bike threshold is set to be exceeded for the first time 
in 2012, representing a fivefold increase compared to 
the 200,000 units that were sold in 2007, according 
to the German Two-Wheeler Industry Association 
(ZIv). This trend toward e-bikes is also driving average 
sales prices, since electric bikes are more technically 
complex, and consequently command prices on 
average four times higher than those for conventional 
bicycles. 

The largest EU markets for e-bikes in 2011 included 
Germany (310,000 units, 34 % share), the Netherlands 
(178,000 units, 29 %) and (Italy 50,000 units, 8 %). 
Particularly in Germany, the number of the e-bikes 
sold has multiplied in recent years, from 70,000 units 
in 2007 to 380,000 units in 2012, according to the 
ZIv. In terms of volumes, their market share stood 
at 10 % in 2012, compared with 8 % in 2011; in 2007 
this figure was a mere 1.5 %. As a consequence, the 
figure in Germany is still far away from the 15 % already 
achieved in the Netherlands; the ZIv nevertheless 
assumes that Germany will achieve a similar market 
share on a medium-term view, equivalent to around 
600,000 units sold annually.

moDEl GRoUP DIvIsIoN oF ThE GERmAN BICYClE sAlEs IN TERms oF volUmE IN 2012
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NUmBER oF E-BIKEs solD IN EURoPE AND GERmANY
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surveys among the general public underscore 
this forecast: in the "Bicycle monitor 2011", 47 % 
of individuals surveyed stated that they would be 
generally interested in an electrically driven bicycle, 
representing almost a doubling compared with the 
2009 survey. sector experts also expect that this sub-
market will continue to grow. In a study conducted 
by the market research and consultancy company 
Trendscope, more than 80 % of the experts questioned 
believed that electric bikes would continue to 
comprise a dominant sub-market in the future. The 
experts also believe that market saturation is still a 
long way off, and that advancing market consolidation 
can be expected instead.16

Stable legal environment
State support programs for classic bicycles and 
electric bikes
Policymakers have also taken note of the high priority 
placed on the bicycle by European citizens:

 »  The EU has invested more than EUR 600 million in 
cycling infrastructure between 2007 and 2013. 

 »  In June 2012, the German Federal ministry of 
Transport published a draft National Cycling 
Plan 2020, designed to restructure guidelines for 
promoting cycle transport over the coming years. 

16 Trendscope: Decision-makers Panel bicycle 2012 
17  German Federal ministry of Transport  

(http://www.ispo.com/bike/de/All-sports/Presse/Pressemitteilungen?clb=54.201.2.15.83828#cts at 17 August 2012)

In particular, legislators aim to strengthen the role 
of cycling within an integrated transportation and 
mobility policy.17 

 »  Extensive state support programs also already exist 
for electrically driven bicycles.

Customs legislation
The importing of bicycles from Asia occurs in the 
setting of several sets of custom laws. Especially where 
the People's Republic of China is concerned, anti-
dumping duties of 48.5 % are levied on the import of 
two-wheeled vehicles and other bicycles. This does 
not affect electric bicycles, however. No anti-dumping 
duties are generally levied on individual bicycle 
components.
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Specific regulations for electric bikes
In Europe, electric bikes do not represent an 
independent vehicle type, but are instead allocated 
to already existing categories, and to different vehicle 
types depending on drive type and power capacity. 
The following table shows the statutory regulations 
for each vehicle type:

Pedelecs
Pedelecs with drive 

assistance >6 km / h s-Pedelecs E-Bikes

Category Bicycle moped moped moped

Registration requirement No No Yes Yes

Insurance plates No No Yes Yes

Driving licence required No Yes Yes Yes

helmet obligatory No No No No / Yes for 
maximum speeds 

> 20 km / h

minimum driver age None 15 years 15 years 15 years

Overall statement on general conditions
We appraise the overall macroeconomic and sector 
conditions as positive: especially where the German 
population is concerned, consumer spending 
propensity is rising in the core European market, 
despite the difficult economic situation. megatrends, 
such as society's growing environmental and 
health awareness, and severe traffic congestion in 
cities, are turning the bicycle into the vehicle of the 
future. Policymakers have engaged with this issue, 
ploughing millions of euros into subsidy programs 
for bicycles and electric bikes in both Germany and 
at European level. Despite a slight decline in unit sales 
figures, sales revenues generated with bicycles have 
been growing for years, as consumers are increasingly 
prepared to pay more to buy good bicycles. The 
market for e-bikes and pedelecs is also reporting 
strong growth. mIFA will especially benefit from this 
trend with its broad product portfolio, high design and 
technology skills and know-how, and sales expertise 
among retailers and specialist dealers.
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Competitive strengths and strategy

Our competitive strengths
our medium-term objective is to achieve further growth and to become significantly more profitable. sales 
revenues are to be quite clearly focussed on ahead of unit sales volumes in this context. specifically, we are 
aiming to boost our annual sales revenue to EUR 200 million over the next four to six years, and to achieve a  
7 to 9 % EBIT margin. In this context, we will benefit from our competitive strengths, as presented in the following 
overview:

Automation and 
cost-efficiency

We have advanced to the position of cost-leader in Germany over the last few years 
as the result of our stringent cost-management, our one-location strategy and the 
consistent automation of our value chain. Also in 2012 we are the market-leader in 
Germany with a volume share of 25 %. 

our core competence consists of producing large unit numbers more efficiently than 
hardly any other European bicycle manufacturer. We achieve considerable economies 
of scale in both purchasing and production. 

Sales expertise 
among retailers and 
specialist dealers

We have become the leading supplier to German retailers through high quality 
and outstanding value for money. We have produced to order for the self-
service segment for many years. We have cultivated stable relationships with our 
customers over many years – also because we operate Germany's largest bicycle 
service network.

We acquired two strong specialist brands in 2012 with GRACE and steppenwolf. 
Both companies' management teams possess many years of sales experience and 
are familiar with specialist dealers' needs. We supply around 350 specialist dealers 
today.

The future market 
for bicycles and 
electric bikes

We operate in a growth market that is benefitting from social megatrends: bicycles 
are the transportation of the future. Consumers are placing increasing value on 
health and the environment, and awareness of bicycle quality is rising. The bicycle 
as an urban mobility vehicle is becoming ever more important.

To this is added the trend towards e-bikes: in all likelihood, its market share will 
continue to report strong growth on a medium-term view. We are optimally 
positioned in this context with our know-how and the acquisition of e-bike 
specialist Grace.

Technology 
expertise 

We have acquired special technology know-how with the acquisition of Grace. For 
example, we have produced the “smart ebike” since summer 2012 on a production 
system that we developed jointly with Daimler. Each individual component must 
meet clearly defined quality standards, and all assembly steps are monitored and 
documented through a central ERP system. The plant is coupled with a quality 
management system. Two specially developed test benches enable virtually 100 % 
quality controlling. The production system largely meets automotive standards, and 
is unique within the bicycle sector to the best of our knowledge.

Experienced 
management

The Group is led by a strong management team with many years of experience. 
management Board member Peter Wicht acquired mIFA in 1996 from an insolvency 
estate, developing it together with specialist purchasing and sales staff to become 
Europe's largest bicycle manufacturer. michael hecken, co-founder of Grace, has 
headed up the marketing and strategy areas at mIFA since 2012. he had already 
formed Grace into a premium manufacturer of e-bikes within a very short period of 
time. With Andreas liertz and Roland liertz, the former shareholders of the company 
steppenwolf, we have also gained two sales experts who have established the 
steppenwolf brand among specialist dealers, and enjoy an excellent network among 
them.
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Our strategy
Based on these competitive strengths, we aim to 
achieve our financial objectives through the following 
strategic measures:

Strong brands: 
Growing profitably in 
the specialist dealer 
sector

our growth is to arise primarily from concentrating on highly profitable classical 
bicycles and e-bikes aimed at specialist dealers. We aim to exploit end-customers' 
growing propensity to trade up and the growth dynamics of the e-bike market in 
this context. 

In terms of purchasing and production, we benefit from economies of scale in mIFA's 
traditional volume business; in terms of sales, we can make recourse to the specialist 
dealer expertise and marketing know-how of Grace and steppenwolf. We aim to 
position the GRACE brand as a provider of state-of-the-art and integrated e-bikes in 
the upper price segment, and the steppenwolf brand as a bicycle forging company 
for classic, value-retaining bicycles in the mid- and upper price segments. We also 
plan to further expand the sale of our products through the Internet.

OEM production: 
Cooperating with 
industry

We will also expand the development and production of complex and consequently 
highly profitable complete vehicles. Besides Daimler, we aim to acquire further 
industrial companies as customers. We pursue this approach in cooperation with 
further sectors, such as utility vehicles for postal and packaging services, or multi-
use vehicles for local community and municipal loan systems. our great expertise 
in development and in product and production technology benefits us in this 
context.

Volume business: 
staying strong on a 
large-scale basis

We aim to remain strong in our core business – bicycles produced to large order 
volumes. margins in this business are to be further expanded through integrating 
higher quality bicycle models into our portfolio. We also aim to develop a new 
brand for the volume business, and to sell it through alternative approaches such 
as shop-in-shop systems. on the production side, the further automation of our 
value chain remains a core topic.

Aftersales services: 
Boosting benefits for 
customers

We enjoy a strong positioning in aftersales services. We wish to further expand and 
professionalise this business area over the coming years. our aim is to establish 
our range of services surrounding the (electric) bicycle as an independent brand, 
and to offer it to further third-party companies. End-customers will also be able to 
easily utilise mIFA's service through our website www.fahrradservice.de. This highly 
profitable cross-function supports the continued growth of our core business. 
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Results of operations, financial 
position and net assets

Results of operations
Significant increase in average prices – growth in 
revenue and gross profit
We remained on our growth path in the 2012 
financial year. We boosted our revenue by 10.7 %, 
from EUR 100.5 million to EUR 111.3 million, thereby 
achieving our highest annual revenue level since our 
IPo in 2004. The trend towards rising sales prices for 
bicycles remained unbroken: although 15.2 % fewer 
bicycles were sold than in the prior-year period (546,000 
units, compared with 644,000 units in the previous 
year), in parallel with the sales revenue growth, the 

average sales price per bicycle reported a significant 
increase of more than 30 % to EUR 204 (previous year: 
EUR 156). however, we significantly expanded our 
sales of e-bikes in the 2012 financial year, as planned: 
its share of total revenue more than doubled to reach 
30 %, and amounting to EUR 33.4 million (previous 
year: EUR 12.6 million) – compared with 12.5 % in the 
previous-year period. The unit volume of electrically-
driven bicycles increased by 75.6 % to around 47,000 
units (previous year: 27,000 units). In this context, the 
sales prices of e-bikes were more than four times as 
high as those achieved with conventional bicycles. 
We also increased service revenue to EUR 4.3 million 
(previous year: EUR 1.6 million). The gross profit margin 
of 32.7 % was slightly above the previous year's level of 
32.6 %.

EUR million 2011 2012 Change (in %)

Revenue by product

E-Bikes 12.6 33.4 +165.1

Conventional bicycles 86.3 73.6 -14.7

services 1.6 4.3 +168.8 

100.5 111.3 +10.7 

EUR million 2011 2012 Change (in %)

Revenue by region

Germany 76.6 87.8 +14.7

Rest of Europe 23.0 22.3 -3.4 

other foreign countries 1.0 1.2 +28.9

100.5 111.3 +10.7

Units 2011 2012 Change (in %)

Shipments by product

E-Bikes 27,000 47,000 +75.6 

Conventional bicycles 617,000 499,000 -19.2

644,000 546,000 -15.2

EUR 2011 2012 Change (in %)

Average price by product

E-Bikes 467 711 +52.2

Conventional bicycles 140 147 +5.0

156 204 +30.8 
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Earnings results: special effects  
from successful takeovers
We have established a strong positioning in the 
volume business over the past years. We aim to 
exploit this position to expand the more profitable 
medium-term business with high-end e-bikes and 
premium bicycles for specialist wholesalers and 
retailers, and industrial customers. In acquiring GRACE 
and steppenwolf in 2012, we consequently acquired 
two brands that are strong in the specialist dealer 
business. mIFA's earnings incurred extraordinary items 
due to the acquisitions of Grace and steppenwolf, 
and the start-up of corresponding production. For 
example, extraordinary personnel and other operating 
expenses were incurred for the operational relocation 
to sangerhausen, and the integration of Grace and 
steppenwolf. The extraordinary items arising from 
these projects amount to EUR 2.0 million. Among other 
operating expenses they include costs relating to the 
relocation (EUR 0.5 million) and for tools, IT, rent and 
transportation (EUR 0.8 million), and among personnel 
expenses, training and start-up costs (EUR 0.7 million). 
To these were added EUR 0.1 million of expenses for 
our uplisting to the Prime standard.

After taking these extraordinary items into account, 
the Group generated adjusted earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
of EUR 6.3 million (previous year: EUR 7.3 million); the 
corresponding EBITDA margin of 5.7 % is below the 
previous year's level of 7.2 %. This does not include, for 
example, additional personnel expenses arising from 
the acquisition of staff from Grace and steppenwolf, 
which were not yet offset by any notable additional 
sales revenues in 2012. The average number of 
employees was up by around 25.9 % year-on-year to 

768 (previous year: 610), whereas personnel expenses 
rose at a faster rate of 32.7 % to EUR 15.9 million 
(previous year: EUR 12.0 million). This is primarily 
attributable to the increasing proportion of highly 
qualified staff. 

mIFA has also made major investments in the 
period under review – primarily in the customer 
relationships and industrial property rights of 
steppenwolf, and in further efficiency improvements 
to the fully-automated wheelset assembly facility. At 
EUR 4.4 million, investments were up almost fivefold 
compared with the previous year (EUR 0.9 million). For 
this reason, adjusted EBIT (earnings before interest and 
tax) of EUR 2.9 million fell year-on-year due to higher 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges, 
reflecting a 2.6 % EBIT margin (previous year: 4.6 %). 
Unadjusted EBIT stood at EUR 0.8 million.

At EUR 2.4 million, the negative net financial result was 
EUR 1.1 million lower than in the previous year. losses 
on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss also reported a sharp increase. 
losses on these currency and interest-rate hedging 
transactions amounted to EUR 0.6 million (previous 
year: gains of EUR 0.5 million). Currency translation 
exerted a counter effect with EUR 0.4 million of gains 
being registered in the year under review, compared 
with a breakeven currency translation result in the 
prior period. At EUR -2.2 million, the balance of interest 
expenses and income was slightly below the previous 
year's level of EUR -1.8 million.

The net profit for the year adjusted for the 
aforementioned extraordinary items amounted to 
EUR 1.1 million, down 45.0 % compared with the 
previous year's EUR 2.0 million.

EUR million

adjusted 
(excluding 

extraordinary 
items)

unadjusted (including 
extraordinary items 

due to Grace and 
steppenwolf )

Earnings effects from Grace and Steppenwolf 

one-off effect due to relocation of operations of Grace and steppenwolf 0.0 2.0

one-off effect from uplisting 0.0 0.1

EBITDA 6.3 4.2

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 3.4 3.4

EBIT 2.9 0.8

Consolidated net profit / loss 1.1 -1.0
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Financial position

EUR million 2011 2012 Change

Cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities -0.1 -15.5 -15.4

Cash flow from investing activities -0.9 -4.4 -3.5

Cash flow from financing activities 2.6 19.8 17.2

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1.7 -0.1 -1.8

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 0.7 2.4 1.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2.4 2.3 -0.1

The company generated negative cash flow from 
operating activities of EUR 15.5 million in the 
2012 financial year (2011: positive cash flow of 
EUR 0.1 million). The sharp decline compared with 
the previous year is primarily attributable to the 
business-related increase in inventories totalling 
EUR 27.2 million.

The cash outflow from investing activities of 
EUR 4.4 million reflects outgoing payments totalling 
EUR 1.0 million, which were incurred for the takeover 
of customer relationships and industrial property 
rights. In addition, the EUR 3.4 million was invested 
in property, plant and equipment – including new 
production plants for wheels for the GRACE and 
steppenwolf brands. In the previous year, cash outflow 

from investing activities was significantly lower at 
EUR 0.9 million. 

At EUR 19.8 million, cash inflow from financing 
activities was EUR 17.2 million above the previous 
year's figure. This marked increase is predominantly 
attributable to the net issue proceeds from the 
capital increase (EUR 10.3 million). In addition, 
inflows from the drawing down of loans to the tune 
of EUR 17.5 million were offset by loan repayments 
totalling EUR 8.0 million.

overall, cash and cash equivalents reported a 
EUR 0.1 million decrease compared with the start of 
the period, to currently EUR 2.3 million.

Net assets
Non-current and current assets  
as of 31 December 2012

31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012

Assets
  

EUR million 
 % of total 

assets
  

EUR million 
 % of total 

assets

Non-current assets 14.9 23.4 21.2 20.8

Property, plant and equipment 12.4 19.5 14.1 13.9

Intangible assets 2.0 3.1 5.4 5.3

other non-current assets 0.5 0.8 1.7 1.6

Current assets 48.9 76.6 80.8 79.2

Inventories 40.6 63.5 67.8 66.6

Trade receivables 5.0 7.8 8.4 8.2

Cash and cash equivalents 2.4 3.7 2.3 2.2

other current assets 1.1 1.6 2.4 2.3

Total assets 63.9 101.9
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Equity and current and non-current liabilities  
as of 31 December 2012

31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012

Equity and liabilities
  

EUR million 
 % of total 

assets
  

EUR million 
 % of total 

assets

Equity 28.0 43.8 38.9 38.1

Non-current liabilities 2.9 4.5 2.7 2.6

Current liabilities 33.1 51.8 60.4 59.3

Trade payables 1.4 2.2 18.2 17.9

Interest-bearing borrowings (current) 29.7 46.5 40.0 39.2

other current liabilities 2.0 3.1 2.2 2.1

Total equity and liabilities 63.9 101.9

The bicycle sector is generally characterised by 
sharp seasonality: most bicycles are sold in the 
spring and summer, with significantly weaker sales 
subsequently reported in autumn and winter. order-
related production for the following bicycle season 
commences already at the end of the calendar year, 
precipitating a sharp increase in inventories. Inventories 
and receivables positions are also relatively high on the 
31 march and 30 June reporting dates, although they 
drop to a low point as of 30 september. The situation in 
this respect has been different in the current financial 
year: the takeovers of Grace and steppenwolf, and the 
major orders from the automotive industry, have not 
only fed through to the addition of intangible assets, 
but also a significantly higher level of inventories 
and receivables. In the second half of the year, too, 
production was up compared with previous years, in 
line with expectations. 

mIFA's total assets amounted to EUR 101.9 million as 
of 31 December 2012, significantly ahead of the level 
as of 31 December 2011 (EUR 63.9 million). The most 
important item on the asset side are inventories, at 
EUR 67.8 million, and a 66.6 % share of total assets. 
These primarily comprise bicycles that have already 
been produced, and raw materials and supplies. This 
clear increase results from materials acquired for 
additional shipments for Grace and steppenwolf. At 
EUR 8.4 million, trade receivables were significantly 
ahead of their level at the previous year-end 
(31 December 2011: EUR 5.0 million). 

Non-current assets also underwent a sharp increase 
– from EUR 14.9 million as of 31 December 2011, to 
EUR 21.2 million as of 31 December 2012. This is almost 
exclusively attributable to the takeover of Grace and 
the purchase of all significant assets of steppenwolf, 
which fed through to additions to intangible assets of 
EUR 4.7 million, and to property, plant and equipment 
of EUR 0.4 million. In particular, customer relationships, 
and industrial copyrights and licenses, worth 
EUR 3.7 million and EUR 0.5 million respectively, were 
capitalised; goodwill from the acquisition of Grace 
amounted to EUR 0.5 million. Together with leipzig-
based bicycle loan company nextbike Gmbh, mIFA 
have supplied the City of Warsaw with 2,100 bicycles. 
This project business generated EUR 0.5 million of 
other assets with a term of longer than one year. 
mIFA's liquid assets amounted to EUR 2.3 million as of 
31 December 2012, EUR 0.1 million lower than as of 
31 December 2011 (EUR 2.4 million). 

The effects from the capital increase are identifiable 
on the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet: 
subscribed capital increased by EUR 1.8 million to 
EUR 9.8 million compared with 31 December 2011, 
and the capital reserves are EUR 10.2 million higher at 
EUR 23.7 million. The equity ratio now stands at 38.1 % 
due to the high level of total assets (31 December 2011: 
43.8 %). The increase in current liabilities is especially 
attributable to the rise in trade payables and interest-
bearing loans.
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REPoRT oN EvENTs AFTER ThE 
BAlANCE shEET DATE
No significant events occurred after the balance sheet 
date that could have effects on the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations.

oPPoRTUNITIEs AND  
RIsKs REPoRT

Management of opportunities  
and risks at MIFA
As an industrial company operating on an intensely 
competitive market, mIFA is exposed to numerous 
opportunities and risks. For this reason, we operate 
a Group-wide opportunities and risk management 
system that we utilise to systematically and 
continuously identify, measure, manage and monitor 
all significant opportunities and risks.

 »  We define risks in this context as the risk of a 
negative divergence from corporate targets. 

 »  We regard opportunities as the opportunity to 
reach our targets, and to sustainably enhance our 
company's value. 

We aim for a balanced relationship between all 
opportunities and risks in our operating activities. 
We monitor all our business activities using our 
opportunities and risk management system. For all 
specific risks and opportunities identified at the end 
of this process, we decide on the extent to which we 
expose ourselves to such risks, or the extent to which 
we adopt measures to exploit such opportunities. 
Interdependencies between individual opportunities 
and risks form an important part of such reviews. our 
opportunities and risk management system should be 
seen as a dynamic and living system that is constantly 
refined and developed further. 

Internal controlling and risk 
management system for the financial 
accounting-related process
We operate a controlling and risk management system 
which is oriented to our needs and flat hierarchical 
structures, and which is integrated into our financial 
accounting process and preparation of financial 
reports. This ensures that the recipients of our reports 
receive appropriate and reliable information about 

mIFA's operating activities and net assets, financial 
position and results of operations. We evaluate such 
information at monthly management meetings, 
and analyse it taking into account key performance 
indicators. such indicators are strongly oriented to 
sales per bicycle type and EBITDA. Deviations from 
budget are investigated critically, and updated targets 
are agreed where required. Flat hierarchies ensure 
rapid implementation. We ensure that proper financial 
accounting principles and the latest International 
Financial Reporting standards (IFRs) are applied 
through binding regulations. If required, we draw on 
the resources of external experts in order to value 
pension commitments, to calculate the purchase price 
allocation for corporate acquisitions, and in the IFRs 
accounting area, for example. We deploy standardised 
IT systems – which are protected from unauthorised 
access – to prepare our financial statements. our IT 
systems are currently being optimised following the 
integration of the new acquisitions and our strategic 
reorientation. Fine-tuning is still required in this 
context.

Based on our opportunities and risk management 
system, we have identified the following opportunities 
and risks at mIFA:

 » Environment and sector

 » Corporate strategy

 » operating business

 » Financial

Specific risks at MIFA
We identified the following significant individual risks 
in the year under review. None of these specific risks 
exerted a tangible effect on mIFA's net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the 2012 financial 
year. In particular, no going-concern risks were 
identified. The risks are listed in no particular order 
concerning their event risk, extent or significance for 
mIFA. It should be noted that further significant risks 
and uncertainties of which the company is currently 
unaware can affect mIFA's operating activities.

Environment and sector risks
Economic risks
Demand for bicycles depends to a great extent 
on private households' propensity to spend; in 
turn, this is primarily affected by factors such as the 
unemployment rate and real incomes. Downturns in 
the economy are frequently accompanied by rising 
unemployment rates, falling real incomes and a drop 
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in domestic demand. This can particularly affect 
demand for bicycles as they do not form part of basic 
daily needs. In particular, economic trends in our key 
European sales markets of Germany, France, the UK, 
Austria, and the Benelux states represent environment 
risks for us. Although these countries continue to enjoy 
relatively stable economic conditions on a European 
comparison, the uncertain situation in Europe could 
also feed through to a worsening of economic trends 
in these states. This could have tangibly negative 
effects for mIFA's revenue and earnings. 

Competitive risks
Especially in the volume business, the bicycle 
market is subject to highly intense competition. For 
example, a total of 2.9 million bicycles were imported 
into Germany from abroad in 2012, while bicycle 
production in Germany has long fallen short of unit 
imports. Eastern European and Asian countries 
command the highest import shares, being able 
to realise strong price-driven market penetration 
due to their favourable production conditions. 
Price underbidding competition primarily affects 
wholesaling and retailing, and consequently affects 
us in a particular manner since these sales channels 
continue to dominate our distribution mix. such risks 
are nevertheless manageable for us for two reasons:

 »  We have maintained trusting business relationships 
with our wholesale and retail customers over a 
period of many years. We have boosted our market 
share continuously over recent years – which have 
been characterised by strong competition and 
price wars – through stringent cost management, 
automation and high quality standards. As a 
company, we will continue to benefit over the 
coming years from our critical mass on the market.

 »  Through the purchase of the GRACE and 
steppenwolf specialist brands, we have acquired 
a business area where price competition plays 
a significantly smaller role than in the volume 
business. The focus here is on design and 
technology instead; both Grace and steppenwolf 
possess considerable expertise in both areas.

Market development risk: electric bicycles
since market forecasts for e-bikes predict further 
growth for the coming years (please refer to the section 
"General conditions on the bicycle market“ in this 
annual report, pages 39f ), we have produced e-bikes on 
a larger scale since 2011, and acquired the Berlin-based 
e-bikes specialist Grace in the year under review. This 
is based on market analysis and expert estimates that 

expect the European electric bike market to continue 
to report dynamic growth over the next years. We 
already generated 30.0 % of our revenue with electric 
bikes in the year under review (2011: 12.5 %). A certain 
risk exists that the trend toward this innovative bicycle 
type could weaken in the future, whether through 
lower demand, or regulatory changes making the 
licensing of electric bikes significantly more difficult. 
on the basis of all the market studies and surveys, 
however, we currently regard this risk as minor. We are 
also retaining our business with classic bicycles as a 
key pillar of our strategy – with white labels and the 
mIFA brand among wholesalers and retailers, and with 
steppenwolf among specialist dealers.

Location risks
We are particularly dependent on manufacturing 
conditions in Germany due to our one-location 
strategy. our competitiveness could suffer if such 
conditions were to worsen due to political initiatives 
to modify the prevailing legislative situation, or 
through significant modifications to collective wage 
bargaining agreements. The political debate about 
introducing a statutory minimum wage across the 
whole of Germany should be mentioned in this 
context. A minimum wage set by the state above 
the sector's average unit productivity level could 
damage many German manufacturers' international 
competitiveness.

Restrictions on imports from some Asian countries 
also generally entail risks for us. Were the EU to cancel 
existing import restrictions (48.5 % anti-dumping 
duty on imports of two-wheel vehicles from China) in 
the coming years, it could reduce our market shares, 
negatively impacting our revenue and earnings. This 
affects only classic bicycles, however, since e-bikes are 
subject to no restrictions. We also currently regard the 
risk of scrapping import restrictions as low.

Seasonal risks
seasonal demand factors also affect our operating 
activities. Traditionally, bicycle sales are by far the 
strongest during the spring and summer months 
between march and June. This creates asymmetric 
utilisation of production capacities over the course of 
the year, which is highest between January and may. 
We make greater recourse to seasonal workers during 
seasonal peaks. labour market policy measures that 
restrict the labour market's seasonal flexibility could 
have a negative impact on cross-year personnel 
planning, possibly worsening mIFA's financial position. 



50   To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements

Weather risk
The weather also exerts a decisive impact on our 
revenue position. since the use of bicycles depends 
on the weather, long and cold winters, as well as 
rainy or unusually cool summer months, can tangibly 
impact our sales revenues. such risk forms a natural 
part of our business.

Corporate strategy risks
Dependency risk: customer structure
Although we advanced into the specialist dealer 
market in the year under review with the acquisition 
of the premium-providers Grace and steppenwolf, 
we still generate most of our revenue through 
wholesalers and retailers. here, most of our revenue is 
concentrated on a few major customers. A worsening 
or discontinuation of a business relationship with one or 
several of these major customers – through insolvency 
on the part of a customer, for example – could affect 
our financial position, and revenue and earnings 
positions. The risk also exists that supply agreements 
are limited to one-year periods. Agreements with 
major customers would need to be renegotiated 
every year in such instances. We nevertheless regard 
such dependency risks as manageable since we have 
cultivated our relationships with our customers over 
many years, and we enjoy a critical mass that makes it 
easy for us to acquire new customers.

Dependency risk: supplier structure
We generally pursue a multi-supplier strategy, 
although some dependency on major manufacturers 
of individual components is unavoidable: shimano, 
for example, occupies a dominant market position 
in gears, for example. should one of our supplier 
relationships, which have mostly existed for many 
years, be interrupted or discontinued due to 
production bottlenecks on the supply side or for other 
reasons, mIFA would not incur significant quality cost 
risks. The risk might also exist of potential production 
outages. We endeavour to remain largely independent 
of individual providers through intensive contacts 
to various internationally leading manufacturers. We 
structure contractual agreements with our suppliers 
on an individual case basis. The remaining legal 
framework is based on general statutory provisions, 
which also include sector practices. supply agreements 
do not generate minimum acceptance obligations.

Operating business risks
Quality risks
like all manufacturing companies, we are exposed 
to the risk of being confronted with damage 
compensation claims due to the delivery of defective 
products. Failures due to machine, man or process 
cannot be entirely excluded despite standardised 
goods entry checks and continuous in-process 
controlling. Were it to prove impossible to attribute 
quality defects to suppliers' responsibility without 
doubt, we might be liable for recourse claims that 
could hurt our profitability. Production defects are also 
connected with personal damage risks since bicycles 
are typically utilised as vehicles, and could entail 
contractual penalties or criminal law consequences 
that might worsen our profitability and reputation. 
We regard quality risks as somewhat low for us since 
we have adopted comprehensive ongoing quality 
control measures, which are described in the "Quality 
assurance" section of this annual report (page 33).

Environmental risks
manufacturing is connected with environmental law 
approvals and supervision regulations. Activities to 
comply with such regulations, such as the equipping 
and retrofitting of plant, can be connected with 
unforeseen expenses. The utilisation and storage of 
environmentally hazardous substances entails further 
environmental risk potential. We continuously adjust 
our technology and safety standards to this end. 

Logistics risks
We place a particular priority on smooth-running 
logistics in order to remain competitive. We keep 
limited stocks of the components that are included in 
our production processes in order to minimise logistics 
costs, and to meet the requirements of our normal 
project-based manufacturing. Potential delays in the 
delivery of such components, or other supply delivery 
defects, could result in temporary production outages 
and delays in shipments to our customers. since such 
deliveries normally comprise high-volume orders, we 
also rely on the orderly functioning of interim storage 
and high-quality transportation services provided by 
third-party companies. 

Personnel risks
We rely on qualified staff at all company levels and 
in all business areas in order to maintain our market 
position. If key personnel leave the company, we 
must recruit appropriate new staff as quickly as 
possible. We could incur costs, and negative effects 
to the progression of our business, if such recruiting 
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processes were to require longer than envisaged. The 
same applies to specialist production staff: recruiting 
appropriate staff could prove difficult. The loss of 
key staff also entails the risk that they fail to adhere 
with confidentiality agreements relating to their 
sector and in-house know-how. Although we would 
prosecute such individuals, such circumstances 
could nevertheless create considerable competitive 
disadvantages for mIFA. 

Information technology risks
our manufacturing is distinguished by a high degree 
of automation: our storage facilities and wheelset 
assembly, painting, small parts warehousing, high-
bay warehousing for finished goods, and packaging 
line operate on a fully automated basis. This high 
degree of automation not only secures high efficiency 
and productivity, but also ensures that our products' 
production quality remains consistently good. It also 
means, however, that production and warehousing 
activities depend on the efficient and uninterrupted 
operation of IT systems. such systems are especially 
susceptible to interruption, and can consequently 
result in production outages and supply delays. We 
enter into corresponding insurance policies and 
implement training sessions and emergency plans to 
avoid such risks and reduce potential losses.

Financial risks
We are also subject to a number of financial risks. 
All risk management activities relating to financial 
instruments pursuant to IFRs 7 are presented in detail 
on pages 96ff of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. In order to avoid overlapping information, 
the following section covers only those financial risks 
that we regard as particularly significant.

Exchange-rate and raw materials price risks
A significant proportion of the components that we 
utilise for production derive from suppliers outside the 
Eurozone. This exposes us to currency exchange-rate 
risk. A major proportion of our materials expenditure 
was denominated in Us dollars (UsD) or Japanese 
yen (JPY) in the 2012 financial year. In particular, Euro 
weakness in relation to the Us dollar could entail 
far-reaching exchange-rate effects for us which can 
negatively affect the financial position, net assets and 
results of operations. Potential price fluctuations on 
global raw materials markets generate a further risk. 
In particular, sharp upswings in commodity prices 
for metals, plastics and rubber can feed through 
to purchasing cost increases, and a worsening of 
our profitability. In order to minimise such risks, we 

enter into currency hedging transactions, which are 
described in greater detail on pages 96ff of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest-rate risks
Changes to market interest rates create interest-
rate risks for us. In the case of fixed interest financial 
instruments, they can generate fair value changes, and 
in the case of variable interest financial instruments, 
disadvantageous fluctuations in interest payments. 
Risks of interest rate changes are mainly of significance 
in the financial sector, but not in the operating sector. 
We have entered into interest-rate swaps, caps and 
one floor to hedge interest-rate risks arising from 
variable interest loans. These financial instruments are 
described in detail on pages 96ff of the notes of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Hedging risk
We manage hedging transactions to hedge our 
exchange-rate, commodity price and interest-rate risks. 
such hedges can entail additional costs depending 
on how the prices of items in the investment portfolio 
change. The risk of insufficient cover exists since 
such transactions do not cover the entire risk. The 
financial instruments are also subject to their own risk, 
and unexpected changes in basis values can have a 
disadvantageous impact on the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations. We monitor our 
hedging transactions to counter such risks.

Interim financing risk
manufacturing to project orders, which comprises 
most of our business, entails a high level of interim 
financing requirements. The materials expenditure 
to purchase components to produce bicycles is 
considerable, which is reflected in the 67.3 % cost of 
materials ratio reported in the 2012 financial year. We 
cover our related financing requirements through 
drawing down cash on a short-term basis from banks 
with whom we have had relationships for many 
years, as well as through refinancing through goods 
deliveries and the payment targets agreed for these, 
which are based on our product cycle. Temporary 
liquidity bottlenecks cannot be excluded as part of 
the cycle, although we do not monitor them critically. 

Credit risks
Credit risks arise when transaction partners cause 
a financial loss by failing to meet their payments 
or other performance obligations. At mIFA, credit 
risks arise particularly in the form of default risks. 
The level of our default risks is derived from the 
total receivables position. No extraordinary risks 
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relating to individual contractual partners or groups 
of contractual partners arose in the year under 
review. Creditworthiness screening for checking and 
monitoring the creditworthiness of our customers and 
continuous monitoring of trade receivables serves to 
minimise default risks. Default risks generally take into 
account individual value adjustments. There were no 
indications on the reporting date for the financial 
statements that trade receivables, which were neither 
impaired nor overdue, would not be settled.

Specific opportunities at MIFA

Environment and sector opportunities
Economic trends on European sales markets
As already mentioned, bicycle sales are strongly 
correlated with economic trends. our core sales 
markets are in Germany, France, Austria, United 
Kingdom, and the Benelux countries. These countries 
have enjoyed largely stable economies – and 
consequently also stable consumer spending – 
compared with many other European states over 
recent years. leading economic research institutes are 
forecasting that the Eurozone will enjoy stronger GDP 
growth over the coming years. We expect that our 
sales markets will benefit to a disproportionate extent 
from this resumption of economic growth. From our 
perspective, this leads us to hope that consumers will 
be more inclined to spend, generating good unit sales 
and revenues in our core markets.

High-growth market for electric bikes
The market for e-bikes has witnessed strong growth 
across Europe over recent years, as outlined in the 
"General conditions on the bicycle market" section 
of this annual report (pages 39f ). The German Two-
Wheeler Industry Association (ZIv) believes that 
electric bikes' share of total bicycle sales in Germany 
could rise to 15 %, representing around 600,000 units 
of annual sales volumes. E-bikes are also becoming 
ever more popular at European level, and are forecast 
to have breached the one million electric bikes 
threshold for the first time in 2012. We have already 
been producing electric bikes since 2011, and the 
integration of the GRACE brand has allowed us to 

take a further important step to participating in these 
excellent market prospects over the long term. As far 
as e-bike production is concerned, we have acquired 
an excellent reputation with the manufacturing of 
the "smart ebike" for Daimler. We will consequently 
continue to be present in all price segments of 
the electric bike market, and adequately serve all 
distribution channels. 

Corporate strategy opportunities 
Synergy potentials in purchasing, production and 
sales
We can exploit in-house synergies through acquiring 
other companies. In particular, the GRACE brand 
gave us the opportunity to utilise the long-standing 
relationships of former steppenwolf managing 
directors Andreas and Roland liertz in sales and 
marketing to specialist dealers. steppenwolf was 
established in 1995, and its products are marketed to 
around 350 specialist dealers. GRACE brand e-bikes 
can also be sold to these dealers. We can also exploit 
economies of scale when purchasing important 
components, which mIFA can buy on better terms on 
the market due to higher unit volume numbers. The 
acquired brands also benefit from efficient production 
and logistics systems under the mIFA roof. This allows 
us to keep costs low on our premium brands, and to 
significantly boost our total margin potential on the 
market.

Shift in customer structure
We will make greater advances in the future into 
the specialist dealer segment with the acquisition 
of the GRACE and steppenwolf brands. This reduces 
our dependency on the large volume business in 
the wholesaling and retailing areas. We will thereby 
better offset any losses of orders from individual 
major customers, and also achieve the higher margins 
that are typical in the specialist dealer business. To 
this is added the expansion of the project business, 
and cooperation with third parties, especially in the 
integrated bicycle construction area. Daimler's order 
provides us with a good reference customer, and 
could form the basis for further cooperation ventures 
with the automotive industry.



 To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements   53

Growth through brands
Bicycles are increasingly becoming products with 
high customer identification potential. Individuals are 
prepared to spend more on their bicycles, and expect 
them to retain their value for longer. Brand is one of 
the most important identification components in this 
context. A strong brand has the potential to convey 
pedigree, capabilities, performance, values, character 
and even vision. For this reason, our market profile is 
becoming increasingly oriented to our own brands. 
With GRACE and steppenwolf, we have integrated 
two already established brands into our portfolio 
that carry emotional significance for customers. our 
medium-term objective is to serve all milieus of the 
German population with their own brand reflecting 
their own particular values.

Operating business opportunities
Higher capacity utilisation outside peak months
With the acquisition of the GRACE brand and oEm 
production for Daimler, we have taken a major 
step towards greater independence of seasons in 
the utilisation of our production capacities. since 
manufacturing electric bikes is more complex than 
producing classic bicycles, longer preproduction 
periods are required. This allows us to utilise periods 
in the second half of the year that have been less 
production-intensive to date, and to smooth out 
seasonal fluctuations. This should have a positive 
impact on our staff loyalty, smooth our revenue curve 
across the course of the year, and help to optimise our 
working capital.

Creation of our own development department
We have acquired proven expertise in the development 
area through the acquisition of Grace. Grace boasts 
outstanding design expertise, and is one of Europe's 
e-bike technology leaders. As a consequence, mIFA 
now has its own development department, and will 
adopt dominant market trends to a greater extent 

than previously, as well as orientate its own range of 
services and products to these trends.

Expansion of service business
We operate Germany's perhaps largest service 
network in the bicycle sector, the structure of which 
is presented on page 31 of this annual report. We aim 
to further intensify the active marketing of our service 
business from the current reporting year, in order to 
benefit to an even greater extent from our strong 
positioning within the competitive environment. We 
plan to establish a brand especially for the service 
business, in order to significantly boost customer 
loyalty, particularly among end-consumers. We also 
enjoy the potential to drive growth ahead in core 
segments in this highly profitable service function.

Additional personnel expertise through 
acquisitions
The takeovers of Grace and steppenwolf not only 
brought additional growth potential to mIFA; we 
also acquired proven experts in technology, design, 
marketing and sales:

 »  Michael Hecken, co-founder of Grace, has headed 
up the marketing and strategy areas at mIFA 
since the Grace acquisition. he developed Grace 
into a premium electric bike manufacturer that is 
recognised across Europe. 

 »  With Andreas Liertz and Roland Liertz, the 
former steppenwolf shareholders, we also acquired 
two outstanding specialist salespeople. Both have 
established steppenwolf within the specialist dealer 
business over the past 17 years, and consequently 
enjoy a broad-based network to numerous dealers. 
other mIFA brands will also benefit from this 
expertise in the future – as the GRACE brand does 
already.
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Overall statement  
on MIFA's risk position
As one of Europe's largest and most modern bicycle 
manufacturers, we regard ourselves as well-equipped 
to sustainably secure our company as a going-concern 
with a view to the opportunities and risks we face. our 
specific risks comprise no going-concern risks, either 
individually or aggregated. We regard as manageable 
all of the risks which we will consciously enter into in 
order to exploit opportunities. As far as purchasing, 
production and logistics are concerned, we are 
highly competitive due to the investments that we 
have realised over recent years. Prospects on bicycle 
markets are outstanding due to social trends. We are 
also assuming that we will consistently pursue our 
growth strategy through the acquisitions we executed 
in 2012, a year of new beginnings for us. 

oUTlooK

Macroeconomic conditions: slight 
improvement expected
The Kiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW) is 
assuming that EU economic output will recover 
during the current 2013 year, and is forecasting 0.1 % 
growth (2012: -0.3 % growth) for the EU, and a decline 
of just 0.2 % for the Eurozone (2012: -0.5 %). Germany 
is set to grow by 0.3 % (2012: 0.7 %), with just a slight 
increase in the unemployment rate to 7.0 % (2012: 
6.8 %). The strongest growth impulses are again 
ascribed to exports, although consumer spending 
should continue to contribute to economic growth. It 
should also benefit bicycle sales.

Sector-specific conditions: constant 
bicycle sales, boom in e-bikes 
European bicycle market trends over recent years are 
presented in detail in the "Conditions on the bicycle 
market" section (pages 37ff of this annual report). on 
this basis, we are assuming that bicycle unit volume 
sales will remain constant over the coming years, and 
that the market share of e-bikes should grow further. 
We regard the forecasts as published by the German 
Two-Wheeler Industry Association (ZIv) as realistic.

MIFA: 2012 as a year of new beginnings 
with a strategic reorientation
our sales revenue growth in the year under review 
shows that the strategy that we announced as part of 
our IPo in June 2012 is already proving worthwhile. The 
year 2012 should nevertheless be regarded as a year 
of new beginnings: with the acquisitions we gained 
two strong specialist dealer brands, oEm orders, 
and development, production and sales know-how. 
These investments in the future were not yet offset 
by any notable revenues in the year under review. We 
nevertheless assume that our strategic reorientation 
will deliver significant revenue and earnings growth 
on a medium-term view.

Medium-term forecast confirmed
It will take some time until the effects of the takeovers 
that we realised in the year under review come to their 
full fruition due to the bicycle sector's development 
cycles and seasonality. In our report on the first nine 
months of the 2012 financial year, we published our 
first specific medium-term forecast in mIFA's more 
recent history, which was based on the corporate 
planning that corresponds to our planning horizon. In 
this, we take as our starting point the aforementioned 
trend in overall and sector-specific conditions, and 
assume, in particular, that the e-bike market will 
continue to grow. According to the current status of 
things, we can confirm this medium-term forecast: 
it is our objective to increase our annual revenue to 
EUR 200 million in the next four to six years. In doing 
so, we are aiming to boost the EBIT margin to between 
7 % and 9 %.

Outlook for the 2013 financial year 
Due to the uncertainty surrounding weather 
conditions alone, it is already difficult to issue a specific 
forecast for the progress of our business. on the current 
basis, we anticipate that we can grow our revenue to 
between EUR 120 million and EUR 130 million in the 
current 2013 financial year, achieving an EBIT margin 
between 4 % and 5 %.
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CoRPoRATE GovERNANCE 
REPoRT

Corporate governance 
Corporate governance forms an important element of 
corporate management at mIFA. As defined by mIFA's 
management and supervisory boards, the term primarily 
applies to responsible corporate management. With 
some exceptions, we follow the recommendations 
of the German Corporate Governance Code in its 
current version. The Code comprises principles for 
good and responsible corporate governance and 
controlling that are recognised both in Germany 
and abroad. The management and supervisory 
boards of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG are 
committed to these standards, and work towards 
their implementation within the company. The aim 
is to create transparency, and to expand confidence 
and trust on the part of capital market participants, 
employees, customers and the general public. The 
following corporate governance report, which was 
compiled by the management and supervisory 
boards, describes the company's essential corporate 
governance structures.

Management Board, Supervisory 
Board, Shareholders and General 
Meeting
Pursuant to statutory regulations, mIFA mittel-
deutsche Fahrradwerke AG operates on the basis of a 
twofold management and controlling structure. While 
the management Board manages the company's 
business transactions, the supervisory Board 
consults with the management Board concerning 
the management of the company, and monitors its 
managerial activities. The German stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) and the articles of association regulate the 
management and supervisory boards' competencies. 
The management and supervising boards of mIFA 
mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG work closely 
together for the company's good.

Management Board
The management Board of mIFA mitteldeutsche 
Fahrradwerke AG manages mIFA's business 
transactions at its own responsibility, and is its legal 
representative. It develops the company's strategic 
orientation, coordinates it with the supervisory 
Board, and ensures that it is implemented. The 
management Board discusses the status of strategy 
implementation with the supervisory Board at 

regular intervals. The management Board of mIFA 
mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG also ensures 
that statutory regulations and internal guidelines 
are complied with across all Group companies 
(compliance).

The supervisory Board appoints the management 
Board, and determines its compensation. The 
management Board currently consists of only Peter 
Wicht. 

Supervisory Board
The supervisory Board supervises and consults with 
the management Board concerning its managerial 
activities in accordance with statutory provisions and 
the articles of association. It appoints the management 
Board, and is entitled to dismiss its members for 
justifiable reasons. The management Board informs 
the supervisory Board regularly, promptly and 
comprehensively, especially concerning fundamental 
matters relating to corporate planning and the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations, as 
well as the company's profitability and business trends. 
Pursuant to section 8 of the articles of association, the 
supervisory Board consists of three members elected 
by the General meeting. The supervisory Board 
members publicise potential conflicts of interest to 
the supervisory Board. In the 2012 financial year, no 
circumstances existed where a conflict of interest on 
the part of a supervisory Board member could not be 
excluded without doubt.

mIFA's supervisory Board consists of the statutory 
minimum number of three members, and has 
consequently refrained from the formation of 
committees from among its membership to date.

Shareholders and General Meeting 
The shareholders of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrrad-
werke AG exercise their rights at the General meeting. 
All ordinary shares evidence identical voting rights. 
The General meeting decides concerning tasks and 
responsibilities incumbent upon it through law, 
including the application of earnings, the discharge 
of the management and supervisory Board members, 
the appointment of the auditor, the election of 
supervisory Board members, amendments to the 
articles of association, and capital measures. The 
supervisory Board Chairperson is generally responsible 
for chairing the General meeting. In order to make 
it easier for shareholders to personally exercise their 
rights, the requisite documents are published on the 
Internet after the General meeting has been convened. 
shareholders can authorise a proxy to exercise their 
voting rights.
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Corporate governance statement 
pursuant to Section 289a of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB)
The corporate governance statement is published 
on mIFA's website within the Investor Relations area 
(www.mifa.de).

Financial accounting and auditing of 
the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the 2012 
financial year have been compiled according to the 
principles of International Financial Reporting standards 
(IFRs), as applicable in the EU. The individual financial 
statements are compiled according to the regulations 
of the German Commercial Code (hGB). The General 
meeting on 11 may 2012 appointed mittelrheinische 
Treuhand Gmbh Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Erfurt, to be the auditor 
of the separate and consolidated financial statements 
for the 2012 financial year. The supervisory Board issued 
the audit mandate. The supervisory Board obtained a 
statement that the auditor was independent before 
proposing that it be selected.

Compensation report

Management Board compensation
The management Board has agreed the following 
compensation components for its activities:

 » Fixed basic salary,

 »  Pension commitment with corresponding 
reinsurance,

 » Company car,

 »  Reimbursement of all outlays and expenses, 
especially reimbursement of travel costs for 
journeys between home and work.

variable compensation components have not been 
agreed. The company has entered into directors & 

officers insurance for mr Peter Wicht. The provisions 
for mr Peter Wicht's pension claims amounted to 
EUR 179 thousand as of 31 December 2012. his 
compensation for the 2012 financial year amounted 
to EUR 330 thousand.

Supervisory Board compensation
Pursuant to section 12 of the company's articles of 
association, supervisory Board members receive 
appropriate compensation as determined by the 
General meeting for each full financial year for which 
they have been supervisory Board members. This 
compensation is payable one month after the end 
of the respective financial year. The supervisory 
Board Chairperson receives double this amount, and 
the Deputy supervisory Board Chairperson receives 
one and a half times this amount. supervisory Board 
members who have not belonged to the supervisory 
Board for a full financial year receive compensation 
in line with the duration of their supervisory Board 
membership. 

The members are also compensated for all outlays 
and vAT due on their compensation and outlays. 
The company can also take out general liability 
insurance for the supervisory Board members to 
cover legal liability arising from their supervisory 
Board activities. The company's General meeting on 
2 July 2007 determined the following supervisory 
Board compensation:

Function Compensation

supervisory Board Chairperson EUR 8 thousand

Deputy supervisory Board Chairperson EUR 6 thousand

Regular supervisory Board member EUR 4 thousand

The supervisory Board received fixed compensation 
of EUR 22 thousand for its activities in the year 
under review (2011: EUR 14 thousand). No variable 
compensation components were granted.
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Stock option programs and similar 
securities-based company compensation 
schemes

mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG operates no 
stock option programs or similar incentive schemes. 
In addition, no plans currently exist to introduce such 
schemes.

Shareholdings and notifiable 
transactions
The following members of the managing and supervising 
boards directly or indirectly held the following shares 
in the company as of 31 December 2012 

 »  mr. Peter Wicht, management Board Chairman 
(CEo), 24.0 %

 »  mr. Uwe lichtenhahn, supervisory Board Chairman, 
1,075 shares in mIFA AG; the remaining supervisory 
Board members hold no shares in the company.

Pursuant to section 15a of the German securities 
Trading Act (WphG), directors (and natural individuals 
or legal entities with which they are closely connected) 
of a company listed on the Regulated market must 
notify the respective issuer and the German Federal 
Financial supervisory Authority (BaFin) if they purchase 
or sell shares or related financial instruments in an 
amount of more than EUR 5,000 during the course 
of a calendar year. No such notifiable transactions 
were recorded in the year under review. Please refer 
to page 93 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for information about shareholdings. 

Takeover law disclosures pursuant 
to Section 315 (4) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB)
Pursuant to section 289 (4) and section 315 (4)  
of the German Commercial Code (hGB), the 
following disclosures are required for mIFA mittel-
deutsche Fahrradwerke AG and the mIFA Group:

1.  Composition of subscribed capital: The share 
capital of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG 
amounts to EUR 9,798,926, and is split into 
9,798,926 ordinary bearer shares. No differing 
share classes have been issued.

2.  Restrictions relating to voting rights or 
the transfer of shares: Each share in mIFA 
mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG grants one 
vote. No restrictions exist relating to voting rights 
or the transfer of shares. The management Board 
of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG is not 
aware of any agreements or restrictions relating 
to the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of 
shares.

3.  Direct or indirect interests in the company's 
capital exceeding 10 % of the voting rights: 
Pursuant to the German securities Trading Act 
(AktG), all investors must notify the company 
and the German Federal Financial supervisory 
Authority (BaFin) of the reaching, exceeding or 
falling below a certain interest in the company's 
voting rights as a result of purchase, sale or 
another manner. Notification is mandatory from 
a 3 % threshold in the voting rights.

  Due to the receipt of notifications concerning 
significant voting rights interests and proprietary 
transactions conducted by individuals with 
managerial responsibilities, the management 
Board is aware of the existence of the following 
direct or indirect interests of the company's 
capital that exceed 10 % of the voting rights:

Number of 
voting rights

Interest in the 
voting rights 

of the share 
capital of 

EUR 9,798,926

Peter Wicht 
and family 2,355,000 24.0 %

Carsten 
maschmeyer 
and family 2,692,368 27.5 %

 

4.  Shares with special rights endowing 
controlling authorisations: No shares in the 
company exist with special rights endowing 
controlling authorisations. 
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5.  Type of voting right control if employees 
participate in the capital and did not 
directly exercise their controlling rights: As 
far as the management Board is aware, no direct 
employee participation exists in the company's 
capital where employees do not directly exercise 
their controlling rights. 

6.  Statutory regulations and provisions of  
the articles of association concerning the 
appointment and dismissal of Management  
Board members and concerning amendments  
to the articles of association: The 
appointment and dismissed of management 
Board members is based on section 84 of the 
German stock Corporation Act (AktG). members 
of the management and supervising board 
are appointed for a maximum of five years 
accordingly. Pursuant to section 6 of the articles 
of association, the management Board consists 
of at least one individual, and can also consist of 
one individual given share capital of more than 
EUR 3,000,000. The supervisory Board determines 
the number of members. The supervisory Board 
can appoint one management Board member to 
be its chairperson or spokesperson, and appoint 
further members to be its deputy chairperson 
or deputy spokesperson. The supervisory Board 
can dismiss a management Board member or the 
management Board Chairperson for a justifiable 
reason.

  Pursuant to sections 119 (1) No. 5, 133, 179 of 
the German stock Corporation Act (AktG) in 
combination with section 18 of the articles of 
association, the General meeting, with a simple 
majority of votes submitted and of the share 
capital represented, can approve amendments 
to the articles of association to the extent that 
either the law or the articles of association do not 
make other stipulations.

7.  Management Board powers to issue or 
repurchase shares: The management Board 
can issue new shares only on the basis of 
resolutions passed by the General meeting 
concerning an increase of share capital or 
concerning authorised and conditional capital.

  Pursuant to section 5 (4) of the current articles 
of association, the management Board is 
authorised, with supervisory Board assent, to 

increase the company's share capital in the 
period until 10 may 2017, once or in partial 
amounts, up to EUR 2,201,704 through issuing up 
to 2,201,704 new ordinary bearer shares against 
cash and / or non-cash capital contributions 
(authorised capital). shareholders are to be 
granted subscription rights in this context. With 
supervisory Board assent, the management 
Board can decide concerning the further content 
of share rights and the terms of the share issue. 

shareholders' subscription rights can be excluded:

 a. to settle fractional amounts

 b.  to issue new shares whose interest in the 
share capital does not exceed EUR 800,000, 
corresponding to 800,000 new ordinary 
bearer shares, and whose issue amount is not 
significantly less than the stock market price

  c.  to acquire non-cash capital contributions, 
and specifically and especially in the form of 
companies, parts of companies or interests in 
companies

mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke has no conditional 
capital. 

The purchase of treasury shares is regulated in sections 
71 et seq. of the German securities Trading Act (AktG), 
and is permissible in certain instances by act of law 
or on the basis of an General meeting authorisation. 
The management Board currently has no General 
meeting authorisation to repurchase the company's 
own shares. 

8.  Significant company agreements subject 
to a change of control following a takeover 
offer: mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG 
has entered into no significant agreements that 
are subject to a change of control following a 
takeover offer. 

9.  Parent company compensation agreements 
entered into with Management Board  
members or employees for the instance  
of a takeover offer: mIFA mitteldeutsche  
Fahrradwerke AG has entered into no 
compensation agreements with members of 
either the management Board or employees for 
the instance of a takeover offer.
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REsPoNsIBIlITY sTATEmENT
To the best of my knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable reporting principles for annual financial 
reporting, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the Group's net assets, financial 
position and results of operations, and the Group 
management report presents the progression of 
business including the business results and the Group's 
position so that a true and fair view is conveyed, and 
describes the significant opportunities and risks 
pertaining to the Group's prospective development in 
the 2013 financial year. 

sangerhausen, April 2013

Peter Wicht
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EUR thousand Notes 1.1.-31.12.2011 1.1.-31.12.2012

Revenues 1) 100,549 111,264

Changes in inventory 2) 3,770 2,433

other own work capitalised 2) 157 219

Total operating revenue 104,476 113,916

other operating income 3) 146 493

Cost of materials 4) 70,397 76,640

Personnel expenses 5) 11,969 15,885

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 6) 2,629 3,447

other operating expenses 7) 15,004 17,518

Operating profit 4,623 919

Net interest result 9) -1,814 -2,162

Currency gains / (losses) 8) 27 449

losses on financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss

10) -131 -745

Gains on financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss

10) 609 103

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 3,314 -1,436

Taxes on income 12) 1,286 -418

Net profit 2,028 -1,018

Weighted average number of shares 8,000,000 8,759,522

Earnings per share (basic) in EUR 13) 0.25 -0.12

Earnings per share (diluted) in EUR 0.25 -0.12

consolIdated stateMent oF coMprehensIve IncoMe 
for the period from 1 january to 31 december 2012
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EUR thousand Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2012

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 20) 12,425 14,120

Intangible assets 21) 2,011 5,389

other assets 22) 0 513

Deferred tax assets 23) 482 1,145

14,918 21,167

Current assets

Inventories 16) 40,579 67,835

Trade receivables 15) 4,968 8,362

other assets 19) 67 434

Tax receivables 17) 356  1,860

other financial assets 16) 630 0

Cash and cash equivalents 14) 2,349 2,251

48,949 80,742

Balance sheet total 63,867 101,909

consolIdated balance sheet 
as of 31 december 2012
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EUR thousand Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2012

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 32)

subscribed capital 8,000 9,799

Capital reserves 13,564 23,735

Revenue reserves 3 3

Net retained profits 6,399 5,319

Total equity 27,966 38,856

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans 29) 2,775 1,750

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 30) 75 179

Deferred tax liabilities 31) 0 739

2,850 2,668

Current liabilities 

Trade payables 25) 1,374 18,228

Interest-bearing borrowings 24) 29,727 39,995

other financial liabilities 20) 520 532

other liabilities 27) 882 1,340

Income tax liabilities 28) 347 72

Provisions 26) 201 218

33,051 60,385

Total liabilities 35,901 63,053

Balance sheet total 63,867 101,909



66   To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements

consolIdated cash FloW stateMent  
for the period from 1 january to 31 december 2012

EUR thousand Notes 2011 2012

Net profit 2,028 -1,018

Net interest result 9) 1,814 2,162

Taxes on income  1,286 -418

Earnings before interest and taxes  5,128 726

Non-cash-effective adjustment to reconcile earnings 
before interest and tax to net cash flows

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 6) 2,629 3,447

Change in the fair value through profit 
or loss of financial instruments 14) -478 642

loss on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 0 18

Changes to provisions and pension provisions 20), 24) 60 94

Changes to net current assets

Increase in inventories 13) -2,300 -27,173

Increase in trade receivables, other recei-
vables and miscellaneous assets 12) -913 -2,443

Increase (decrease) in trade payab-
les and miscellaneous liabilities 19), 22)  -1,579  12,232

2,547 -12,457

Interest paid -1,670 -2,399

Income taxes paid -938 -620

Cash flow from operating activities -61 -15,476

Purchase of intangible assets -33 -998

outgoing payments for the acquisition 
of subsidiaries (less cash acquired) 0 -42

Proceeds from the disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 10 39

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -865 -3,384

Cash flow from investing activities -888 -4,385

Incoming payments from equity contributions 0 10,290

Cash inflows from the drawing down of borrowings 8,644 17,473

Repayment of borrowings -6,011 -8,000

Cash flow from financing activities 2,633 19,763

Net decrease / increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,684 -98

Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January 665 2,349

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2,349 2,251
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consolIdated stateMent oF chanGes In equIty  

EUR thousand

Explanatory 
notes in 

notes 
Number 
of shares

subscribed 
Capital

Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserves

Net 
retained 

profits
Total 

equity

As of  
1 January 2011 24) 8,000,000 8,000 13,564 3 4,371 25,938

Net profit 2,028 2,028

As of 31 Dec. 2011 /  
1 January 2012 24) 8,000,000 8,000 13,564 3 6,399 27,966

Capital increase 
on 13 July 2012  1,600,000  1,600  8,778 10,378

Capital increase 
against non-cash 
capital contributions 
on 18 Dec. 2012  198,926 199  1,393 1,592

Actuarial losses -62 -62

Net profit -1,018 -1,018

As of 31 Dec. 2012 24) 9,798,926 9,799 23,735 3 5,319 38,856
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consolIdated notes 
for the period from 1 january to 31 december 2012 

I. GENERAl NoTEs To ThE CoNsolIDATED FINANCIAl sTATEmENTs

1.1 Information about the company
mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG (referred to in brief below as: mIFA AG) is a company whose corporate 
headquarters are based in Germany (06526 sangerhausen, Kyselhäuser straße 23). The company‘s purpose is to 
manufacture and sell bicycles. mIFA AG is registered with the District Court of stendal under commercial register 
sheet number 214837. All 9,798,926 shares of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG are traded on the Regulated 
market (Prime standard) on the Frankfurt stock Exchange (WKN: A0B95Y).

Effective as of 27 march 2012, mIFA AG acquired majority interests in Grace Gmbh & Co. KG, Grace verwaltungs 
Gmbh, both Biesenthal, and e-fab mobility Gmbh, Berlin. The complete takeover of the GRACE Group was 
concluded on 18 December 2012 with entry of the capital increase against non-cash capital contributions in the 
commercial register for stendal.

In addition, the subsidiary steppenwolf Bavaria Gmbh, oberhaching, was founded in the third quarter 2012. The 
main assets of the insolvent steppenwolf Gmbh and its insolvent subsidiary steppenwolf Bikes Gmbh, both based 
in oberhaching, were acquired on 21 August 2012 via this company.

As a consequence, mIFA AG has prepared consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2012 including 
the acquired companies from the acquisition and / or founding date. The comparable prior-year figures in these 
consolidated financial statements relate to the corresponding annual financial statements of mIFA AG.

on 15 march 2013, the Board of management approved the publication of the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year ending 31 December 2012.

1.2 Principles of preparation
The consolidated financial statements for mIFA AG as of 31 December 2012 were prepared in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting standards (IFRs) of the International Accounting standard Board (IAsB), 
london, and the bulletins of the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) applicable 
on the reporting date for the financial statements. The IFRs standards were applied to the extent that these were 
endorsed by the European Commission for the 2012 financial year. 

1.3 Principles and methods
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost accounting basis. 

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2012 were prepared in euros. Unless otherwise stated, 
all amounts are presented in thousands of euros (EUR thousand).

The statement of comprehensive income has been prepared according to the nature of expense method. 

In the statement of comprehensive income, and in the balance sheet, individual items are aggregated in order 
to improve clarity. They are explained in the notes to the financial statements. The balance sheet is presented 
according to the term structure of the assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are regarded as current if they are 
due, or are to be sold, within one year. Assets and liabilities are correspondingly classified as non-current if they 
remain within the company for more than one year.

Trade receivables and trade payables, income tax liabilities, and inventories are generally reported as current items. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are generally presented as non-current items.
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2. Effects of new accounting standards

Financial reporting regulations being adopted for the first time in the year under review
In the year under review 2012, the following financial reporting standards and interpretations were adopted for 
the first time. The first-time adoption of these financial reporting standards and interpretations had no significant 
effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of mIFA AG. 

Amendments to IFRS 1 „First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards:  
severe hyperinflation”
These amendments mean that first-time adopters of IFRs, whose functional currency has been subjected to a 
drastic hyperinflation and who converted to IFRs at the same time or after the normalisation of the functional 
currency, may choose to measure all of their assets and liabilities, which were held prior to normalisation of the 
functional currency, at fair value through profit or loss at the time of conversion to IFRs.

Amendments to IFRS 1 „First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards:  
removal of fixed dates for first-time adopters”
These amendments to IFRs 1 facilitate the presentation of transactions which took place prior to conversion to 
IFRs. 

Amendments to IFRS 7 „Financial instruments: disclosures – transfer of financial assets”
These amendments to IFRs 7 enhance the disclosure requirements for transactions associated with the transfer 
of financial assets in order to ensure improved transparency with regard to the presentation of the risk position.

Amendments to IAS 12 „Income taxes – recovery of underlying assets”
This amendment clarifies the determination of deferred taxes on investment property measured at a fair value 
through profit or loss. It is therefore presumed that realisation of the carrying amount by means of disposal is 
fundamentally crucial for the assessment of deferred taxes for property measured at fair value through profit or 
loss in accordance with IAs 40.

New financial reporting regulations
The IAsB has issued the following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards which are not 
yet mandatory. Early adoption of these standards has not been utilised.

IFRS 1 „First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards: government loans“
These amendments relating to government loans at interest rates which do not correspond to those customary 
in the market award first-time adopters of IFRs an exception from the complete retrospective application of IFRs 
when balancing these loans during the transition to IFRs. subject to subsequent endorsement in EU law, the new 
standard is to be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

IFRS 9 „Financial instruments"
The accounting and valuation of financial instruments in accordance with IFRs 9 replaces IAs 39. In the future, 
financial assets will be classified and measured in just two groups: depreciated cost and fair value through profit or 
loss. The regulations for financial liabilities are generally taken from IAs 39. In the case of value changes for financial 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, these can be divided up in the future: the proportion 
accounted for by the company‘s own credit risk shall be recognised in other income, and the remaining proportion 
of the value change shall be recognised in profit or loss. subject to subsequent endorsement in EU law, IFRs 9 is to 
be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
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IFRS 10 „Consolidated financial statements“
With this standard, the notion of control is comprehensively redefined. According to the new concept, control is 
evidenced if the potential parent company has decision-making authority, based on voting rights or other rights, 
over the potential subsidiary, participates in positive or negative variable return cash flows from the subsidiary 
and is able to influence these return cash flows due to its decision-making authority. The new standard is to be 
adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

IFRS 11 „Joint arrangements"
IFRs 11 redefines the regulations governing the accounting of joint arrangements. According to the new concept, 
it is to be determined whether a joint operation or a joint venture exists. In the case of a joint venture, the right to 
vote is not applicable for proportional inclusion in the consolidated financial statements. The new standard is to 
be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

IFRS 12 „Disclosure of interests in other entities“
This standard regulates the disclosure requirements with regard to interests in other entities. The necessary 
declarations are significantly more extensive than those previously made in IAs 27, IAs 28 and IAs 31. The new 
standard is to be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 13 „Fair value measurement“
This standard uniformly regulates fair value through profit or loss measurement in IFRs financial statements. In 
accordance with IFRs 13, the fair value is defined as the ‚exit price‘, that is to say the price that would be recovered 
through the sale of a financial asset / the price that would have to be paid in order to transfer a liability. The new 
standard is to be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

Annual improvements to IFRS in 2012
Within the context of the Annual Improvements Project (2009-2011 cycle) amendments are essentially being 
made to four standards: IFRs 1, IAs 16, IAs 32 and IAs 34. subject to subsequent endorsement in EU law, these 
amendments are to be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 1 „Presentation of items of other comprehensive income“
This adjustment means that the presentation of other income is amended in the statement of comprehensive 
income. The items of other income which are later reclassified in the statement of comprehensive income 
(recycling) will, in the future, be presented separately from the items of other income which are never reclassified. 
The amendment is to be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

Revised version of IAS 19 „Employee benefits (rev. 2011)“
In addition to more extensive disclosure requirements regarding employee benefits, in particular, the previous 
right to vote on the recognition of actuarial gains and losses in the context of assessing pension obligations is 
no longer applicable. In the future, only direct recognition in other income will be permitted. Furthermore, only 
a standardised interest calculation for the plan assets amounting to the current discount rate of the pension 
obligations is permitted. subject to subsequent endorsement in EU law, the new version of IAs 19 is to be adopted 
for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 27 „Separate financial statements“
Within the scope of the adoption of IFRs 10, the regulations for the control principle and the requirements for 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements from IAs 27 are outsourced and resolved in IFRs 10. The 
consequence of this for the future is that IAs 27 will only contain the regulations for accounting for subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in IFRs-compliant individual financial statements. subject to subsequent endorsement in 
EU law, the amendment is to be adopted for the first time in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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Amendments to IAS 28 „Investments in associates and joint ventures“
With the adoption of IFRs 11 and IFRs 12, IAs 28 has been redefined as investments in associates and joint ventures 
and its regulatory area, which has hitherto been restricted to associates, has been expanded to include joint 
ventures by means of application of the equity method. These amendments are to be adopted for the first time in 
the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 „Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities“
This supplement to IAs 32 clarifies which prerequisites exist for balancing financial instruments. As a consequence 
of these clarifications, the regulations on disclosures contained in the notes have also been expanded in IFRs 
7. subject to subsequent endorsement in EU law, the amendments are to be adopted for the first time in the 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (IAs 32) / on or after 1 January 2013 (IFRs 7).

IFRIC 20 „Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine“ 
IFRIC 20 concerns the balancing of stripping costs which occur during the production phase of a surface mine. The 
interpretation regulates the balancing of benefits from the stripping activity and is to be adopted for the first time 
in the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

In addition to the new financial reporting regulations and interpretations presented, the IAsB and IFRIC have also 
published further bulletins. mIFA AG currently anticipates that the application of all the new financial reporting 
regulations and interpretations will have no significant effect on the financial position and results of operations or 
the cash flow of the future Group.

3. Significant accounting and measuring principles

Revenues 
Income is recognised if it is probable that the economic benefits will flow into the company and that the extent of 
the income can be reliably determined. Income is measured at a fair value through profit or loss of the consideration 
received. Cash discounts, rebates, sales tax and other contributions are not taken into account. In addition, the 
realisation of income requires the fulfilment of the reporting criteria listed below.

a) Proceeds from the sale of goods

Proceeds from the sale of goods are recognised if the significant risks and opportunities associated with ownership 
of the products have been transferred to the customer.

b) Interest earnings

Earnings are recognised using the effective interest method at the time when the interest is accrued. Interest 
earnings are reported in the statement of comprehensive income as part of the net financial result.

Research and development costs
There were no significant research and development costs in the 2011 financial year. For the first time in the 2012 
financial year, at the Biesenthal site, expenses amounting to EUR 262 thousand were allocated to research and 
development costs.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are reported in the balance sheet if the Group becomes a contractual party 
in a financial instrument. Financial assets are written off if the contractual rights to payments from the financial 
assets expire or the financial assets are transferred with all significant risks and opportunities. Financial liabilities 
are written off if the contractual obligations are settled, set aside, or have expired. Purchases and sales of financial 
instruments customary in the market are in principle accounted for on the trading date. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are in principle reported separately.
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Financial assets
The initial inclusion of financial assets is measured at a fair value through profit or loss. For subsequent measurement, 
the financial instruments are allocated to one of the measurement categories listed in IAs 39, to which they are 
designated at the time of their initial inclusion.

The financial assets of the Group include cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables and other receivables as 
well as derivative financial instruments.

Financial assets which are to be assigned to the categories „financial investments held to maturity“ and „financial 
assets available-for-sale“ were neither present on the balance sheet date nor in the previous year.

a) Credits and receivables

Credits and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are not 
listed on an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income if the 
credits and receivables are written off or impaired and within the scope of amortisations.

b) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses interest and currency-related financial instruments for the economic hedging of risks of interest 
rate changes for variable-interest obligations / currency risks from expected purchasing obligations. The interest-
based financial instruments relate to caps, floors and swaps; the currency-related financial instruments exclusively 
comprise forward currency transactions. These derivative financial instruments are allocated where the Group fails 
to fulfil the requirements for the hedging relationship in accordance with IAs 39 for financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.

At the time of conclusion of the contract, the derivative financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet 
at a fair value through profit or loss and are remeasured at a fair value through profit or loss during the subsequent 
periods, whereby the changes in the fair value through profit or loss shown as netted in the statement of 
comprehensive income are recognised in the financing expenses. Derivative financial instruments are recognised 
as financial assets if the fair value through profit or loss is positive and as financial liabilities if the fair value through 
profit or loss is negative.

Financial liabilities
Upon initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are measured at the fair value through profit or 
loss less the directly attributable transaction costs. The reported financial liabilities regularly substantiate claims 
for repayment in cash or another financial asset. The interest-bearing loans and borrowings subsequently are 
measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition using the effective interest method. 

Inventories
Inventories are reported as assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business (finished products) and consumed 
within the manufacturing process (raw materials, consumables and supplies) and advance payments.

Raw materials, consumables and supplies are measured at their lower value for acquisition or production costs 
determined on the basis of the average method and their net realisable value at the balance sheet date. The 
recoverable net realisable value is determined from the estimated sale price in the normal course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and necessary sales costs.

The finished products are reported as costs of production. In addition to direct costs of materials and manufacture, 
the production costs also include reasonable overheads attributable to the production process based on the 
projected capacity.

Advance payments are carried at their nominal amount.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured at their cost upon acquisition or production. The cost of an intangible asset acquired 
during a corporate merger corresponds to its fair value through profit or loss on the acquisition date. Intangible 
assets are then reported if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Group and the acquisition or production cost of the asset can be reliably measured. For the purpose of 
subsequent evaluation, intangible assets are reported at their cost of purchase or production minus accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (reported in the depreciations). Intangible assets (not including 
goodwill and other assets with an unlimited useful life) are written off on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives and evaluated for a possible impairment if there is evidence that the value of the intangible asset could 
have depreciated. The depreciation period and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each financial 
year. For intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (EUR 172 thousand; 2011: EUR 46 thousand), an impairment 
test is carried out at least once annually for the individual asset or on the level of the cash-generating unit. These 
intangible assets are not written off on a scheduled basis. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite 
useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite useful life accounting estimate remains 
justified. should this not be the case, the asset is deemed to have a finite useful life and a change in the accounting 
estimate from indefinite to finite is recognised prospectively. Gains and losses resulting from the elimination of 
intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the carrying value of the 
asset and are recognised as profit or loss during the period when the asset is eliminated.

In particular, the following intangible assets are reported with the following useful lives:

Years

software 3 – 5

Industrial property rights / licenses 3 – 7

Customer relationships 7

The industrial property rights and licenses also cover licenses with an indefinite useful life. Internally-generated 
intangible assets are not accounted for in the balance sheet.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reported at their acquisition costs minus the accumulated depreciations and 
impairments. The acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment comprises the purchase price and other 
associated non-recoverable taxes as well as all other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its present 
place and into an operating condition ready for its intended use. subsequent costs such as service or maintenance 
costs, which are incurred after the fixed assets have entered into operation, are recognised as expenses in the 
period in which they were incurred. Interest paid on loans / borrowings is not capitalised.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis using the expected useful economic life assuming a residual value 
of EUR 1.00. Depreciation on additions to tangible fixed assets is generally charged on a time-apportioned basis.
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In particular, the following useful lives are applied:

Years

land and buildings 14 - 50

Technical equipment and machinery  5 - 16

operating and office equipment  3 - 14

The useful lives, depreciation method and residual values are reviewed annually to ensure that the depreciation 
method and period correspond to the expected economic use of the property, plant and equipment.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised if there is reasonable assurance of the Group‘s compliance with the associated 
conditions. Grants received from third parties which satisfy the objective of promoting investment are recognised 
as reductions in acquisition costs. Grants are then recognised as income by means of a reduced amount of 
depreciation over the duration of the depreciable asset‘s useful life.

Impairment losses of non-current assets
Non-current assets are reviewed in terms of impairment of value if conditions or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. For the impairment testing, as a first step 
the recoverable amount of the asset / cash-generating unit (CGU) should be determined. For assets, this is the 
higher one of either the fair value through profit or loss less costs to sell or the value in use. The fair value through 
profit or loss less costs to sell is defined as the price that can be achieved within the scope of a sale of an asset or 
CGU between two knowledgeable, willing and independent business partners less costs to sell. The value in use 
of an asset or CGU is determined by the present value of an expected cash flow, estimated within the framework 
of current use.

Previously recorded impairment losses on assets (excluding goodwill) are only reversed and credited to the 
income statement if there are indications that the value impairment no longer exists or may have decreased. The 
reversal is recognised as income in the statement of comprehensive income. The increase in value (or decrease 
in impairment losses) of an asset, however, is only recognised to the extent that it does not exceed the carrying 
amount which would have resulted if no impairment losses had been recognised for the asset in previous years 
(taking into account the depreciation and amortisation effects).

In the 2012 financial year, no evidence of impairment losses or reversals in value of non-current assets arose, as in 
the previous year. 

Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits include cash-in-hand, bank balances as well as short-term deposits with a term of 
less than three months.

Taxes on income
The income tax expenses represent the sum of actual and deferred income taxes.

The actual income tax expenses are based on the annual earnings, adjusted for items that are neither taxable nor 
deductible and is measured at the amount for which payment to the taxation authorities is expected. Calculation 
occurs using the tax rates applicable or announced on the balance sheet date.

In accordance with IAs 12, taxes on income, deferred taxes are recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts for assets and liabilities in the IFRs balance sheet and the tax balance sheet as well as essentially 
for unused tax losses. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that a taxable profit will become available, 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be applied.

Deferred tax assets are only reported in the extent to which realisation is expected within a foreseeable period. 
The deferred tax assets accounted for in the balance sheet are reviewed in this regard on each balance sheet date.

The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax rates applicable at the time of realisation and / or which 
are to be applied in the future. The tax rate for determining the deferred taxes is 15 % (previous year: 15 %) for 
corporation tax, 5.5 % (previous year: 5.5 %) solidarity surcharge paid on the corporation tax as well as 12.25 % 
(previous year: 12.25 %) for trade tax. This results in a total combined tax rate of 28.08 %. Deferred taxes are 
recognised as tax income / expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Provisions
Provisions are only reported if the Group has a current (legal or de facto) obligation as a result of past events 
which makes it probable that the fulfilment of the obligation will lead to an outflow of resources that constitute 
economic benefits, and where the extent of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Provisions are reviewed on 
every balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. For provisions that are discounted, the 
increase in the provisions that reflect the time lapsed is recognised as loan / borrowing costs. 

Pension obligations
Pension obligations are measured in accordance with IAs 19 (rev. 2002). In this connection, the pension 
commitments have been considered as a defined benefit plan and therefore measured using the one-off costs for 
the ongoing process, actuarially separated for each plan. An assumed interest rate of 3.7 % (2011: 5.0 %) has been 
taken as a basis. In addition, the biometric accounting principles are used according to the 2005G mortality tables 
compiled by Klaus heubeck. According to the economic development, pension adjustments of 3.0 % (2011: 3.0 %) 
have been taken into account. Until 2011, actuarial gains and losses were recognised in their full amount as profit 
or loss in the reporting period in which they were incurred. From 2012 onwards, these are offset directly against 
the equity capital. All assumptions are reviewed on each reporting date for the financial statements. 

Pension obligations are claims arising from insurance policies to cover the pension commitments, where the asset 
value of EUR 242 thousand (2011: EUR 226 thousand) is netted against pension obligations.

Leasing relationships
In accordance with IAs 17, leasing contracts are classified as either finance or operating leases. 

leasing relationships are accounted for in the balance sheet as finance leases if substantially all the risks and 
opportunities associated with ownership of an asset are transferred to the lessee. A leasing relationship is classified 
as an operating leasing relationship if substantially not all the risks and opportunities associated with ownership 
are transferred. 

Assets held within the framework of finance leasing relationships are recognised as assets of the company at 
their fair value through profit or loss on their acquisition date. The corresponding liability to the lessor should be 
recognised in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. The financing result as the difference between the 
total leasing liabilities and the fair value through profit or loss of the assets acquired is distributed over the term 
of the corresponding leasing relationship in the statement of comprehensive income to ensure that, over the 
periods, a constant interest rate for the remaining balance of the liabilities is created for each reporting period.

lease payments made in connection with operating leasing relationships are recognised as profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the corresponding leasing relationship.

As of the balance sheet date, no finance leasing relationships exist.
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Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, the functional and presentation currency for the 
Group. The items contained in the statement are measured using this functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are initially converted into the functional currency at the spot rate on the day of 
the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities in a foreign currency are converted into the functional currency on 
each reporting date using the closing rate. All currency differences are recognised as profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities and contingent claims
Contingent liabilities are not reported in the balance sheet provided that these are not associated with corporate 
mergers. They are presented in the notes to the financial statements. No contingent liabilities exist apart from 
guarantees and indemnities and one order commitment.

Contingent claims are not reported in the balance sheet. They are presented in the notes to the financial statements 
if the inflow of economic benefits is probable. There are currently no significant contingent claims.

4. Significant discretionary decisions, estimates and assumptions
Preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRs requires the use of assumptions and estimates 
that affect the amounts and recognition of assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet, the income and 
expenses as well as contingent liabilities. As a consequence of the uncertainty associated with these assumptions 
and estimates, actual results could in the future result in major adjustments to the carrying amounts of the assets 
and liabilities concerned.

Estimates and assumptions
The most important assumptions related to the future as well as other main sources of estimating uncertainties on 
the reporting date, according to which an appreciable risk exists that a significant alteration might be necessary 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, are explained below.

Impairment losses of non-financial assets
on each balance sheet date, the Group determines whether evidence of impairment losses exists for non-current, 
non-financial assets (EUR 20,022 thousand; 2011: EUR 14,436 thousand). Intangible assets of indefinite useful life 
are reviewed at least once annually as well as whenever there is evidence of an impairment. other non-financial 
assets are examined for any impairment in the event of any evidence that their carrying amount may exceed the 
realisable amount. In order to estimate the value in use, management has to estimate the projected future cash 
flows from the asset or from the cash-generating unit and then select an appropriate discount rate with which to 
determine the present value of the cash flow.

Pension obligations
The expense from defined post-employment benefit plans is determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. 
Actuarial measurements are carried out on the basis of assumptions on discount rates, expected income from 
pension plan assets, future increases in wages and salaries, mortality and future pension increments. Due to 
the long-term nature of these pension plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The carrying 
amount for the pension obligations, after offsetting against claims arising from insurance policies to cover the 
pension commitments, is EUR 179 thousand (2011: EUR 75 thousand).
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Deferred taxes
For all deductible temporary differences, deferred tax assets are accounted for to the extent that it is probable 
that a taxable profit will become available, against which the deductible temporary difference can be applied. A 
significant discretionary decision by management is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised on the basis of the expected time of occurrence and the amount of the taxable future income. 
As of 31 December 2012, deferred tax assets amounting to EUR 1,145 thousand (2011: EUR 482 thousand) were 
reported.

In the course of the corporate acquisition of the GRACE Group set out below, existing deferred tax liabilities 
amounting to EUR 739 thousand are reported as separate balance sheet items and allocated to non-current 
liabilities.

5. Corporate mergers 
With effect as of 27 march 2012, mIFA AG acquired majority interests in the following companies:

Grace verwaltungs Gmbh 51 %

Grace Gmbh & Co. KG 51 %

e-fab mobility Gmbh 51 %

(together referred to as the „GRACE Group“)

The acquisition of the GRACE Group serves to expand the e-bike segment. The purchase price amounted to 
EUR 2,114 thousand. In addition, EUR 2,300 thousand was paid to take over a shareholder loan. on 20 march 2012, 
mIFA AG also signed an option agreement to acquire the outstanding non-controlling interests of 49 % in the 
GRACE Group as part of a capital increase against non-cash capital contributions. When the option is exercised, 
the sellers will receive 210,000 shares at an issue amount totalling EUR 1,680 thousand.

The option was valid until 31 october 2012. Due to the option agreement to acquire the outstanding shares in the 
GRACE Group, mIFA AG already became the economic owner of the GRACE Group as of 27 march 2012, and no 
non-controlling interests were reported in the consolidated financial statements. Instead, the GRACE Group was 
fully consolidated as of 27 march 2012, and a financial liability due to the former shareholders was reported in an 
amount of EUR 1,680 thousand. Transaction costs of EUR 9 thousand were incurred, which were reported among 
other operating expenses. 

on 19 september 2012, a further 2 % interest in GRACE Group companies was acquired and with the agreement 
on 02 october 2012 the option mentioned above for the outstanding 47 % stake in the GRACE Group companies 
was exercised. The increase against non-cash capital contributions was entered into the commercial register on 
18 December 2012.
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on the basis of the purchase price allocation (PPA), the acquired assets and liabilities of the GRACE Group 
companies are as follows:

EUR thousand
Carrying amounts 
before acquisition PPA

Carrying amounts 
after acquisition

Intangible assets 421 2,948 3,369

Property, plant and equipment 363 363

Inventories 83 83

Trade receivables 2,248 2,248

other assets 300 300

Cash and cash equivalents 392 392

Trade payables -438 -438

other liabilities -3,800 -3,800

Provisions -27 -27

Interest-bearing loans -11 -11

Deferred taxes 0 -828 -828

Equity -469 2,120 1,651

Purchase price 2,114

Goodwill 463

The corporate merger carried out on 27 march 2012 and the consolidation of the new subsidiaries contributed 
to the consolidated revenue (EUR 10,628 thousand) and consolidated earnings (EUR 554 thousand). If initial 
consolidation had occurred as of 01 January 12, consolidated revenue would have been EUR 1,457 thousand 
higher, and consolidated earnings EUR 550 thousand lower.

6. Impairment losses
Goodwill and intangible assets of indefinite useful life are reviewed annually for impairment (on 31 December). 
During the year, goodwill and intangible assets of indefinite useful life are reviewed in the instance of events that 
indicate impairment. No such events occurred in 2012.
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II.  NoTEs To BAlANCE shEET ITEms AND sTATEmENT  
oF ComPREhENsIvE INComE ITEms

Notes to the statement of comprehensive income

1) Revenues
Revenue arises from the sale of goods, in particular, and is generated on the following markets:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Germany 76,568 87,787

Rest of Europe 23,034 22,256

other foreign countries 947 1,221

100,549 111,264

Revenues of EUR 21.1 million (18.9 %) are assigned to the largest customer in the Germany segment, and revenues 
of EUR 12.1 million (10.8 %) are achieved with one additional customer in the France segment.

Revenue from services of EUR 1,241 thousand (2011: EUR 1,430 thousand) included in revenue relates to repairs 
performed to the company‘s own products. 

The sale of bicycles in Germany is subject to strong seasonality. This seasonality is characterised by strong sales in 
spring and summer, and somewhat weaker sales in autumn and winter.

In order to cover the high sales in the spring, bicycles are already produced in the autumn and winter of the 
previous year. This results in an increase in inventories of finished goods at the year-end. The further increase as of 
31 December 2012 is based on the electric bikes area, and is directly connected with the acquisition of the GRACE 
Group.

2) Change in inventory
Changes to inventory relate exclusively to finished products, and amounted to EUR 2,433 thousand (2011: 
EUR 3,770 thousand).

3) Other operating income
The other operating income mainly results from employment grants, the removal of payments from the use of 
cars, the sale of tangible fixed assets, insurance compensation payments and the reduction of value adjustments.



80   To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements

The table below presents an overview of the composition of other operating income for the financial years 2012 
and 2011: 

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Employment grants 47 0

Removal of payment in kind / other services 0 136

Removal of payments from the use of cars 48 66

Insurance compensation payments 10 10

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 39

Income relating to other periods 0 35

miscellaneous other income 31 207

Total 146 493

The other operating income increased from EUR 146 thousand in the 2011 financial year by EUR 347 thousand 
(237.7 %) to EUR 493 thousand in the 2012 financial year. The increase is essentially due to income from the 
removal of payments from the use of cars and other removals, proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, income relating to other periods and miscellaneous other income.

4) Cost of materials
The cost of materials combines the cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies of EUR 74,750 thousand (2011: 
EUR 68,912 thousand) with the cost of purchased services of EUR 1,890 thousand (2011: EUR 1,485 thousand). 
The cost of materials ratio (ratio of cost of materials to total operating revenue) of 67.3 % in the 2012 financial 
year fell just slightly short of the previous year‘s level of 67.4 %. Third-party services include one-off costs of 
EUR 98 thousand in connection with the GRACE project, which are not offset by any revenue.

5) Personnel expenses
The personnel expenses are composed as follows: 

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Wages and salaries 9,966 13,172

social expenses 2,003 2,713

11,969 15,885

Alongside the expenses for payments into a direct insurance policy for pension provision amounting to 
EUR 27 thousand (2011: EUR 25 thousand), personnel expenses also include past service costs from allocations 
to pension provisions amounting to EUR 19 thousand (2011: EUR 19 thousand) and, until 2011, actuarial gains of 
EUR 5 thousand.

From 2012 onwards, actuarial gains / losses together with losses incurred due to changes in assumptions 
(EUR 84 thousand) are offset directly against the equity capital. offsetting occurs after tax and amounts to 
EUR 62 thousand.
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The average number of Group employees (including 10 apprentices) in the year amounts to:

Employees according to category 2011 2012

Commercial 30 55

Industrial / technical 580 713

610 768

150 new employees were appointed in connection with the establishment of Grace production at the 
sangerhausen site. This led to one-off personnel expenses for training measures and setup handling costs of 
EUR 709 thousand.

6) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Please refer to the statement of changes in non-current assets (see pages 100f ) for information about 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges incurred in the financial year.

7) Other operating expenses
other operating expenses mainly comprise expenses for freight and handling (EUR 6,957 thousand; 2011: 
EUR 6,872 thousand), services (EUR 2,848 thousand; 2011: EUR 3,208 thousand), rents and lease payments 
(EUR 1,126 thousand; 2011: EUR 668 thousand) and incidental rental expenses (EUR 1,080 thousand; 2011: 
EUR 948 thousand), as well as legal and consultancy costs, insurance expenses, and telecommunications and 
repair costs. 

In addition, one-off expenses of approx. EUR 60 thousand were incurred in connection with the change of segment 
and the initial listing in the Regulated market (Prime standard) of the Frankfurt stock Exchange on 17 July 2012.

With the transfer of production to sangerhausen and the launch of GRACE e-bikes, as well as the takeover of 
steppenwolf, one-off costs totalling EUR 444 thousand were incurred. Additional extraordinary expenses of 
EUR 763 thousand are assigned under items such as tool costs, rent and transport costs as well as trade fair costs 
(mainly due to the Eurobike event in Friedrichshafen) and IT conversion expenses / adaptions. 

The following fees for the services of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements were recognised in 
respect of fees payable for audits of the financial statements (EUR 90 thousand; 2011: EUR 30 thousand) and for tax 
advice (EUR 10 thousand; 2011: EUR 5 thousand).

8) Currency gains / losses

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Exchange rate gains 1,091 1,404

Exchange rate losses -1,064 -955

27 449

These are particularly attributable to the change in the Us dollar to euro exchange rate in the 2012 financial year.
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9) Net interest result
The net interest result composes as follows:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Interest earnings 7 66

Interest expenses for pensions -14 -15

Interest expenses from the discounting of non-current assets 0 -49

Interest payments to:

Credit institutions -1,538 -1,979

miscellaneous -269 -185

Interest expenses -1,821 -2,228

Net interest result -1,814 -2,162

The risk of a change in interest rates in the future is considered minimal. In the future, a slight rise in interest rates 
is expected. 

As of 31 December 2012, variable interest is paid on mIFA AG‘s financial liabilities amounting to EUR 41,745 thousand 
(2011: EUR 32,502 thousand). mIFA AG has entered into interest-rate swaps, caps and a floor with a total volume of 
EUR 25,000 thousand in order to limit the negative effect of future increases in market interest-rate levels.

The average interest rate of the loans for the financial year is 3.58 % p.a. The margin charged on the loans within 
the framework of interest calculations by the banks is similar to commercial market conditions.

10) Financial instruments
In accordance with IAs 39, the financial assets and financial liabilities are designated to one of the following classes:

a) credits and receivables,

b) financial investments held to maturity,

c) financial assets available-for-sale,

d) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss,

e) financial liabilities measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition, and

f ) financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All of the Group‘s financial assets and financial liabilities being classified are categorised as credits and receivables, 
financial liabilities measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition, and financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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EUR thousand

Category in 
accordance 
with IAs 39

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2012

Carrying 
amount in 

accordance 
with IAs 39 

Depreciated 
cost 

31.12.2012

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
31.12.2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (a) 2,251 2,251 2,251

Trade receivables (a) 8,362 8,362 8,362

other assets (a) 434 434 434

11,047 11,047 11,047

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings (e) 39,995 39,995 39,995

Interest-bearing loans (e) 1,750 1,750 1,750

Trade payables (e) 18,228 18,228 18,228

other liabilities (e) 1,340 1,340 1,340

other financial liabilities (f ) 532 532 532

61,845 61,845 61,845

EUR thousand

Category in 
accordance 
with IAs 39

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2011

Carrying 
amount in 

accordance 
with IAs 39 

Depreciated 
cost 

31.12.2011

Fair value  
through 

profit or loss 
31.12.2011

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (a) 2,349 2,349 2,349

Trade receivables (a) 4,968 4,968 4,968

other assets (a) 67 67 67

other financial assets (d) 630 630 630

8,014 8,014 8,014

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings (e) 29,727 29,727 29,727

Interest-bearing loans (e) 2,775 2,775 2,775

Trade payables (e) 1,374 1,374 1,374

other liabilities (e) 882 882 882

other financial liabilities (f ) 520 520 520

35,278 35,278 35,278

Due to the predominantly short terms of the financial assets and financial liabilities, it is assumed that their fair 
values through profit or loss and the carrying amounts are identical. 
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11) Derivative financial instruments
For the purpose of hedging long-term interest rate risks, as of 31 December 2012 mIFA AG has entered into two 
interest-rate swaps with interest-only volumes of EUR 5,000 thousand / EUR 6,000 thousand, for which mIFA AG is 
a fixed payer and receives 3-month Euribor. A swap began on 31 may 2010 carrying a term until 31 march 2015 
(fixed interest rate: 2.28 %, fair value through profit or loss EUR -275 thousand). The other interest rate swap was 
entered into on 31 August 2010. It carries a term of five years. The key data are as follows: fixed interest rate: 2.02 %, 
fair value through profit or loss: EUR -74 thousand.

mIFA AG also entered into a floor amounting to EUR 5,000 thousand. It carries a term from 2 December 2008 to 
2 september 2013 (strike rate: 3.79 %, fair value through profit or loss: EUR -137 thousand).

In the 2012 financial year two (2011: three) caps continued to exist with a total volume amounting to 
EUR 9,000 thousand (EUR 5,000 thousand and EUR 4,000 thousand). They carry terms from 2 December 2008 to 
2 september 2013 and from 30 June 2008 to 28 June 2013. The key data are as follows: fixed interest rates 5.5 % 
and 5.45 %, fair values through profit or loss EUR 0 thousand and EUR 0 thousand.

Furthermore, during the financial year the company entered into four (2011: six) forward currency transactions for 
purchases with a nominal value of UsD 9,000 thousand (2011: UsD 11,000 thousand) at exchange rates between 
1.3020 and 1.3090 (2011: exchange rate from 1.3835 to 1.4110). The forward currency transactions expire or are 
terminated between 31 January and 28 march 2013 (2011: between 12 January and 3 may 2012).

The fair values through profit or loss are determined as the present values of the cash flows taking into account 
the contractually agreed forward rates and the forward rate on the balance sheet date.

The net earnings from the valuation of the derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as of 
31 December 2012 is EUR 642 thousand (losses); (2011: EUR 478 thousand (gains)). The changes to the fair values 
through profit or loss can be attributed to changes in the market conditions. There are no significant fair value 
through profit or loss changes due to the default risk of the contracting partners.

mIFA performs the following hierarchical categorisation which takes into account the importance of the factors 
included in the valuations. These comprise three levels:

level 1: Prices listed on active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

level 2: Input factors which are not listed prices included at level 1, but which are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly (in other words, as a price) or indirectly (in other words, derived from prices), and

level 3: Factors for measuring an asset or liability not based on observable market data (non-observable input factors).

As of 31 December 2012, mIFA AG measured the following financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

EUR thousand
31 December  

2012 level 1 level 2 level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value  
through profit or loss 0 – 0 –

Financial liabilities measured at fair value  
through profit or loss 532 – 532 –
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As of 31 December 2011, mIFA AG measured the following financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

EUR thousand
31 December  

2011 level 1 level 2 level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value  
through profit or loss 630 – 630 –

Financial liabilities measured at fair value  
through profit or loss 520 – 520 –

12) Taxes on income
Taxes on income (2012: income) are composed as follows:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Current tax expenses 1,286 71

Income due to loss carry-back 0 -82

Deferred taxes 0 -407

1,286 -418

The reported tax expenses include taxes for previous years amounting to EUR 1 thousand (income) (2011: 
EUR 266 thousand).

The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and the product of the accounting profit multiplied by the 
applicable tax rate for the company for the 2012 and 2011 financial years is presented as follows:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Earnings before tax 3,314 -1,436

Applicable theoretical tax rate in % 28.08 28.08

Theoretical tax 931 -403

Tax effects / tax-exempt income / non-deductible expense 65 0

Taxes for current year 0 72

Tax loss carry-back 0 -82

Taxes for previous years 266 -1

Deferred taxes / other 24 -5

Actual income tax expenses 1,286 -418

Actual income tax rate in % 38.81 29.11
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The tax expenses developed as follows:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Actual tax expenses 1,286 -11

Deferred tax expenses in connection with

equity capital measure 0 321

pension provisions 0 24

Change in deferred tax assets on 

temporary differences 0 -663

and provision for deferred taxes 0 89

Tax expenses according to the statement of comprehensive income 1,286 -418

13) Earnings per share
Pursuant to IAs 33, earnings per share, basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated annual 
earnings attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of shares in issue. 

The 9,798,926 shares (previous year: 8,000,000 shares) in circulation correspond to the issued shares. No dilution 
effect occurred during the financial year.

Notes to the balance sheet: Current assets

14) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash holdings and current account credit positions at banks. such credits 
carried interest on normal banking terms.

15) Trade receivables
Trade receivables amounting to EUR 8,362 thousand (2011: EUR 4,968 thousand) primarily exist with major 
customers of many years‘ standing, which are reviewed regularly with respect to their creditworthiness. Default 
risks have only been identified for one subsidiary included in the consolidated financial statements for the first 
time. The accounts receivable of this subsidiary more than 60 days in the amount of EUR 656 thousand was written 
down to 75 %.

EUR thousand 31.12.2011 31.12.2012

Trade receivables 4,968 8,854

less individual value adjustments 0 492

 4,968 8,362
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As of 31 December, the age structure of the trade receivables was as follows:

EUR thousand 31.12.2011 31.12.2012

Neither overdue nor impaired 4,105 6,659

overdue, not impaired

1 – 30 days 720 1,289

30 – 60 days 3 104

60 – 90 days 11 169

90 – 120 days 129 141

863 1,703

As of 31 December 4,968 8,362

16) Inventories
The inventories are composed as follows:

EUR thousand 31.12.2011 31.12.2012

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 19,828 45,310

Finished products 19,924 22,356

Payments 827 169

40,579 67,835

Inventories are measured at the lower of the acquisition or production costs and their net realisable value. 

scrappings and eliminations beyond the usual waste within the framework of production have not been carried 
out.

17) Tax receivables
The tax receivables as of 31 December 2012 amounted to EUR 1,860 thousand (2011: EUR 356 thousand). They 
include sales tax credits (EUR 1,158 thousand) and tax overpayments (EUR 620 thousand) as well as a claim on the 
basis of a loss carry-back (EUR 82 thousand).

18) Other financial assets
In the previous year, the other financial assets related primarily to the market values of interest-rate and currency 
hedging transactions. 

The other financial assets decreased from EUR 630 thousand as of 31 December 2011 to EUR 0 thousand as of 
31 December 2012. This development was particularly attributable to market value fluctuations. 
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19) Other assets 
The other assets are composed as follows: 

EUR thousand 31.12.2011 31.12.2012

Prepaid expenses 21  70

miscellaneous 46 364

67 434

In particular, deferred prepayments for insurance were reported as prepaid expenses.

No receivables from investment and similar grants are included in the miscellaneous current assets. An amount 
of EUR 241 thousand is assigned to the amounts due within one year from the Nextbike Polska project, which 
arose in connection with the provision of bicycles for the city of Warsaw. The amounts due after one year from this 
project are reported under other non-current assets.

Non-current assets

20) Property, plant and equipment 
Changes to the individual items of non-current assets, including depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
losses for the financial year, are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets (see 
pages 100f ). 

Additions to property, plant and equipment essentially comprise technical equipment and machinery 
(EUR 1,765 thousand), operating and office equipment (EUR 778 thousand) and plants under construction 
(EUR 842 thousand).

No revaluations were applied to property, plant and equipment.

There are no finance leases relating to property, plant and equipment.

21) Intangible assets
Intangible assets predominantly comprise software, industrial property rights and licenses, as well as customer 
relationships acquired in the context of business combinations. 

As a result of the corporate acquisition realised with effect as of 27 march 2012, purchased intangible assets of 
EUR 3,832 thousand (including EUR 463 thousand of goodwill) arose on the basis of the updated PPA. 

via the newly formed subsidiary steppenwolf Bavaria Gmbh, oberhaching, on 21 August 2012, the entire customer 
base, the steppenwolf brand (umbrella brand and product brands) as well as property, plant and equipment was 
acquired from the insolvency administrator of steppenwolf Gmbh and steppenwolf Bikes Gmbh, both based in 
oberhaching. This resulted in total expenses of EUR 925 thousand. Based on the purchase price allocation (PPA) for 
the transaction, the brand was assigned EUR 126 thousand and the customer relationships EUR 774 thousand. The 
remaining amount of EUR 25 thousand was assigned to property, plant and equipment (see pages 100f ).

22) Other assets 
This involves the amount due within five years from the Nextbike Polska project for the provision of bicycles for 
the city of Warsaw. In connection with the discounting of these non-current assets (interest rate: 5.5 %), interest 
expenses were incurred amounting to EUR 49 thousand.
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23) Deferred tax assets
The deferred taxes (both assets and liabilities) have developed as follows:

EUR thousand 31.12.2011 Change 31.12.2012

Assets

Intangible assets 255 146 401

Property, plant and equipment 165 198 363

Inventories 90 111 201

Financial liabilities 146 3 149

Pension provisions 9 31 40

665 489 1,154

Passive

Financial assets -177 177 0

Trade receivables -6 -3 -9

-183 174 -9

Balance of deferred tax assets 482 663 1,145

There were no tax loss carry-forwards on the balance sheet date.

Within the scope of the corporate acquisition, deferred tax liabilities amounting to EUR 828 thousand were 
taken into account. As of 31 December 2012, these had reduced due to depreciation by EUR 89 thousand to 
EUR 739 thousand.

Current liabilities

24) Interest-bearing borrowings
The interest-bearing borrowings item exclusively contains bank borrowings. In particular, they serve to finance 
inventories and carry a term of less than one year. Collateralisation occurs according to a collateral pool agreement 
with the banks through the assignment of receivables, stocks, mortgages and the transfer of ownership for 
inventories of financed technical equipment and machines. 

lender 
values in EUR thousand

loans and 
borrowings 
31.12.2011

loans and 
borrowings 
31.12.2012

Repayment 
until

sachsen Bank 0 11,983

thereof 0 9,000 31 may 2013

thereof 0 2,983 29 march 2013

Deutsche Bank 5,579 10,000

thereof 0 6,500 28 June 2013

thereof 0 3,500 28 march 2013

spk. mittelthüringen 8,106 9,980 31 Jan 2013

DZ-Bank 10,984 8,000 31 Jan 2013

WestlB 5,058 0 30 April 2012

Total 29,727 39,963
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In addition to the loans and borrowings, associated interest liabilities amounting to EUR 32 thousand are also 
included in the balance sheet amount. on the reporting date, there was an overall credit line amounting to 
EUR 41 million (2011: EUR 45 million). 

25) Trade payables
Trade payables amounting to EUR 18,228 thousand (2011: EUR 1,374 thousand) in particular result from goods 
deliveries in preparation for production at the start of the subsequent financial year. EUR 7,400 thousand of the 
liabilities is assigned to floating payments from parts for production.

26) Provisions
The provisions are formed for warranty claims, and changed as follows:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

As of 01.01. 153 201

Reversal 0 0

Allocation (net) 48 17

As of 31.12. 201 218

The provision for warranties was formed for expected follow-up improvement work and credits, and was valued 
on the basis of empirical utilisation values. It is anticipated that most of these costs will be incurred within one 
financial year.

 27) Other liabilities
The other liabilities amounting to EUR 1,340 thousand (2011: EUR 882 thousand) comprise mainly liabilities from 
payroll accounting of EUR 666 thousand (2011: EUR 558 thousand).

28) Income tax liabilities
The income tax liabilities relate to provisions for trade tax. 

Non-current liabilities

29) Interest-bearing loans
The non-current interest-bank borrowings relate to bank borrowings connected with the financing of property, 
plant and equipment (nominal amount: EUR 5,000 thousand). The loans carry a term until 29 may 2015. The annual 
repayment instalment amounts to EUR 1,000 thousand in total, plus 1.688 % interest on the respective outstanding 
liability. As of 1 march 2013, the interest rate increased to 1.71 %.

lender 
values in EUR thousand

loans and 
borrowings 
31.12.2011

loans and 
borrowings 
31.12.2012

Interest rate 
in % p.a

DZ Bank AG 1,655 1,050 1.688 %

volksbank Berlin 1,100 700 1.688 %

Total 2,775 1,750
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As of 31 December 2012, the maturity of the non-current liabilities is presented as follows: 

EUR thousand
Due within 

1 year
Due in 1  

to 5 years

Due later 
than in  
5 years Total

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing 0 1,750 0 1,750

0 1,750 0 1,750

30) Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations exist for a performance-based pension commitment to the Board 
of management. They have been calculated following the „projected unit credit method“ in accordance with IAs 
19 with an assumed interest rate of 3.7 % (2011: 5.0 %) and a pension trend of 3.0 % on the basis of the heubeck 
2005G mortality tables.

The pension obligations are claims arising from insurance policies to cover the pension commitments, where the 
asset value amounting to EUR 242 thousand (2011: EUR 226 thousand) is netted against pension provisions.

The tables below show the components of the expenses for pension benefits recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as well as the amounts reported in the balance sheet for the respective plans:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Pension provisions at the start of the financial year 63 75

+ allocation to provisions (service cost) 19 19

+ allocation to provisions (interest cost) 14 15

+ increase in plan assets -36  -16

+ actuarial losses 15 86

Pension provisions at the end of the financial year 75 179
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The past service cost and (until 2011) actuarial gains / losses have been taken into account in the personnel 
expenses; the interest expenses have been taken into account accordingly in the net financial result. 

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Performance-orientated obligation

as of 01.01 273 301

Current past service cost 19 19

Interest expenses 14 15

Actuarial losses / gains -5 86

as of 31.12 301 421

Fair value through profit or loss of plan assets

as of 01.01 -210 -226

Expected return on plan assets -26 -6

Contributions to plan assets -10 -10

Actuarial losses 20 0

as of 31.12. -226 -242

Reconciliation of net obligations

Performance-orientated obligation at the end of the financial year 301 421

Fair value through profit or loss of plan assets -226 -242

Present value of pension obligations at the end of the financial year 75 179

Expected pension costs for the following year

Current past service cost 19 25

Interest expenses 15 16

Expected returns on plan assets -26 -6

Total pension costs 8 35

Further expected development

Pension provision at the start of the following year 75 179

plus pension costs 8 41

less contributions -10 -10

Pension provision at the end of the following year 73 210

The following actuarial assumptions have been taken as a basis for calculating the provision:

31.12.2011 31.12.2012

Assumed interest rate 5.0 % 3.7 %

Pension trend 3.0 % 3.0 %
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The contribution that is expected to be deposited during the following period under review amounts to 
EUR 10 thousand.

31) Deferred tax liabilities
These deferred tax liabilities, amounting to EUR 828 thousand, were incurred within the course of the acquisition 
of the GRACE Group and, as of 31 December 2012, amount to EUR 739 thousand.

32) Equity
The approved annual financial statements of mIFA AG prepared according to German Commercial Code (hGB) 
accounting standards were presented to the General meeting on 11 may 2012. The General meeting approved 
carrying forward the net retained profits of EUR 5,982,167.47 as reported in the 2011 financial statements to a 
new account. The management and supervisory boards were discharged. The General meeting also approved the 
creation of new authorised capital of EUR 4,000,000; to this end, section 5 Figure 4 of the articles of association 
was reformulated as follows: (Extracts)

“The Board of management shall be authorised, with supervisory Board assent, to increase the share capital in 
the period until 10 may 2017, once or in partial amounts, by a total of up to EUR 4,000,000 through issuing up to 
4,000,000 new ordinary bearer shares against non-cash capital contribution and / or cash capital contributions 
(authorised capital). shareholders shall be granted subscription rights in this context. 

shareholders’ subscription rights can be excluded.“

With the entry in the commercial register on 13 July 2012 of the capital increase that was approved on 27 June 2012, 
the company’s share capital was increased by EUR 1,600,000 from previously EUR 8,000,000 to EUR 9,600,000 
through issuing 1,600,000 new ordinary bearer shares. The new shares are dividend-entitled from 1 January 2012. 

The company generated EUR 11,200,000.00 of gross issue proceeds from the capital increase (EUR 7.00 per share). 
The costs of the capital increase came in at EUR 822 thousand; these were offset against the capital reserve.

All 9,600,000 shares of mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG were admitted on 16 July 2012 to trading on the 
Regulated market – Prime standard – on the Frankfurt stock Exchange. Initial listing in the Prime standard occurred 
on 17 July 2012.

With the entry in the commercial register on 18 December 2012 of the capital increase against non-cash capital 
contributions, the company’s share capital was increased by EUR 198,926 from EUR 9,600,000 to EUR 9,798,926 
through issuing 198,926 new ordinary bearer shares. The new shares likewise carry dividend rights from 
1 January 2012 and are admitted to trading on the Regulated market – Prime standard – on the Frankfurt stock 
Exchange.

The subscribed capital amounted to EUR 9,798,926 as of the reporting date, and is split into 9,798,926 ordinary 
bearer shares (no par value shares) each with a notional amount of EUR 1.00. 

As of the balance sheet date, the shares are held as follows:

Number 
(in thousand)  %

Carsten maschmeyer 2,692 27.5

Peter Wicht 2,355 24.0

AFm holding Gmbh 372 3.8

Free float 4,380 44.7

9,799 100.0
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The statutory reserve has not been endowed, because the capital reserves under commercial law of mIFA AG 
amounting to EUR 25,259 thousand are already sufficient for the provision of section 150 (2) of the German stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). statutory reserves are not provided for.

The management Board proposes in accordance with the supervisory Board to carry forward the net profit of mIFA 
AG amounting to EUR 4,945,420.76 onto new account.

Please refer to the statement of changes in equity concerning changes to equity.

III. NoTEs To ThE CAsh FloW sTATEmENT
In accordance with IAs 7, the cash flow statement shows how the cash of mIFA AG changed over the course of the 
year under review as a result of inflows and outflows.

The cash flow statement differentiates between cash changes arising from operating activities, investing activities 
and financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cheques and cash positions, as well as bank accounts 
in credit less any overdraft positions.

The cash flow from operating activities reduced by EUR 15,415 thousand compared with the previous year to a 
cash outflow of EUR 15,476 thousand.

The cash flow from financing activities totalling EUR 19,763 (2011: EUR 2,633 thousand), in addition to the net 
deposits from the capital increase of EUR 10,290 thousand, is mainly composed from the drawing down of new 
loans in an amount of EUR 17,473 thousand, and the repayment of loans in an amount of EUR -8,000 thousand.

After deducting cash flows from investing activities (EUR -4,385 thousand; 2011: EUR -888 thousand), financing 
activities (EUR 19,763 thousand; 2011: EUR 2,633 thousand) and operating activities (EUR -15,476 thousand; 2011: 
EUR -61 thousand), a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of EUR 98 thousand to EUR 2,251 thousand arises.

Cash and cash equivalents are composed as follows:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Current accounts in credit 2,346 2,245

Cash 3 6

2,349 2,251

No significant non-cash-effective investing or financing transactions occurred in addition to the capital increase 
against non-cash capital contributions.

Iv. sEGmENT REPoRTING
mIFA AG produces and sells e-bikes, mountain bikes and other bicycles, and is divided into three reporting 
segments organised according to geographic areas as follows:

 »  Germany produces e-bikes, mountain bikes and other bicycles mainly for the wholesale, retail and specialist 
trade. The production location is allocated here.

 » The France segment is mainly allocated to the sale of bicycles to Decathlon.

 » Austria, switzerland, holland and Denmark are the main contributors to the other international segment.

The financing function is generally allocated to holding / reconciliation; this area also includes legal and consulting 
expenses. The company management monitors the operating reporting segments’ results separately for the 
purposes of allocating resources and measuring performance on the basis of operating results. No business 
transactions occurred between the operating segments. 
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Non tax-deductible goodwill is primarily attributed to expected synergy effects from cost reduction potentials and 
allocated to the Germany segment. 

EUR thousand
Germany 

2012
France 

2012

other 
international 

2012

holding  /  
reconciliation  

2012

mIFA  
total

2012

Revenues 87,787 12,150 11,327 0 111,264

other own work capitalised 219 0 0 0 219

other operating income 0 0 0 493 493

Changes in inventory 1,919 266 248 0 2,433

Cost of materials 60,469 8,369 7,802 0 76,640

Personnel expenses 12,272 1,699 1,584 330 15,885

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses 2,720 376 351 0 3,447

other operating expenses 12,255 1,696 1,621 1,986 17,518

Segment – operating profit (EBIT) 2,209 276 257 -1,823 919

Segment assets 79,508 8,368 8,314 5,719 101,909

Segment liabilities 16,351 2,160 2,014 42,528 63,053

EUR thousand
Germany 

2011
France 

2011

other 
international 

2011

holding  /  
reconciliation 

2011

mIFA  
total 
2011

Revenues 76,568 14,302 9,679 0 100,549

other own work capitalised 157 0 0 0 157

other operating income 0 0 0 146 146

Changes in inventory 2,871 536 363 0 3,770

Cost of materials 53,608 10,010 6,779 0 70,397

Personnel expenses 8,935 1,668 1,130 236 11,969

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses 2,002 374 253 0 2,629

other operating expenses 10,526 1,965 1,331 1,182 15,004

Segment – operating profit (EBIT) 4,525 821 549 -1,272 4,623

Segment assets 57,726 1,767 557 3,817 63,867

Segment liabilities 1,872 349 23,736 33,444 35,901
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v. oThER DIsClosUREs

1. Financial risk management objectives and policies

Capital management
The objective of mIFA AG‘s capital management is to ensure good balance sheet ratios with a view to the rating of 
the company and with it also the creditworthiness and independence of the company. Changes to the economic 
conditions are taken into account when managing the company‘s capital structure. The equity ratio, leverage and 
interest cover are all used to monitor the capital structure. 

The equity ratio (equity capital / balance sheet total) amounted to 38.1 % (2011: 43.8 %) as of 31 December 2012. 
The leverage (liabilities / equity capital) amounted to 162.3 % (2011: 128.4 %) as of 31 December 2012. The interest 
cover (income before taxes and financing expenses / financing expenses) amounted to 166.4 % for the 2012 
financial year (2011: 282.7 %).

Credit risks
Credit risks arise when customers / transaction partners cause a financial loss by not meeting their payments or 
other performance obligations. At mIFA AG, credit risks arise particularly in the form of default risks.

The extent of mIFA AG‘s exposure to default risks results from the total value of its receivables. It is not exposed 
to any extraordinary default risks in respect of individual contractual partners or groups of contractual partners. 
Creditworthiness screening for checking and monitoring the creditworthiness of our customers and continuous 
monitoring of trade receivables serves to minimise the default risks. Default risks generally take into account 
individual value adjustments.

There were no indications on the reporting date for the financial statements that trade receivables, which were 
neither impaired nor overdue, would not be settled.

Liquidity risks
liquidity risks arise when mIFA AG, due to a lack of cash or cash equivalents, is not in the position to fulfil existing 
or future payment obligations when due. 

mIFA AG monitors its current liquidity position on a daily basis. Taking into account the projected earnings for 
2013, the available liquid funds and existing credit lines are sufficient for financing the current business activities. 
Planning takes into account the terms of the financial investments and financial assets as well as the cash flows 
generated from the current business activities.

The table below shows the contractual maturities for the company‘s non-derivative financial liabilities. The table 
is based on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the company can 
be obliged to make payment. The table contains both interest and capital payments. When interest payments are 
based on variable parameters, the undiscounted amount takes as its basis the interest rate curves at the end of 
the reporting period.



To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements   97

EUR thousand
Carrying 
amount Up to 1 year 1-5 years over 5 years Total

31 December 2012

Non-interest-bearing instrument 19,568 19,568 0 0 19,568

variable interest-bearing instrument 41,745 41,438 1,793 0 43,231

31 December 2011

Non-interest-bearing instrument 2,256 2,256 0 0 2,256

variable interest-bearing instrument 32,502 30,502 3,897 0 34,816

Market risks
market risks are the risks that the fair value through profit or loss or future cash flows from a financial 
instrument may fluctuate due to changes in market prices. market risks include currency risks and interest rate 
risks.

Currency risks
Currency risks as defined by IFRs 7 arise on account of financial instruments that are of a monetary nature and 
denominated in a currency that differs from the functional currency.

mIFA AG obtains the components required for manufacturing bicycles from leading global suppliers. Purchases are 
made partly in Us dollars and partly in Japanese yen. Therefore, it cannot be excluded that currency fluctuations 
have an adverse effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the company. 

mIFA AG primarily sells its products in the euro zone. A reduction of the currency risk should be achieved through 
the development of sales activities in the Us dollar zone. 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of derivatives accounted for on the reporting date to a reasonable 
possible change in the Us dollar exchange rate (currency-based transactions). In order to assess the currency risk, 
the EUR / UsD exchange rate for each day of 2012 and 2011 was correlated by market data provider, Bloomberg. 
The standard deviation of this statistical series was subsequently determined. The FX shock is described as the ad 
hoc shift in the exchange rate by the standard deviation in both directions. If all other variables remain constant, 
the annual earnings before tax will be affected as follows:

standard devi-
ation of UsD

Effects on the ear-
nings before tax 

EUR thousand

Effects on  
the equity 

EUR thousand

2012 +0.0327 -170 -122

-0.0327 +178 +128

2011 +0.0599 -163 -127

-0.0599 +178 +139

Interest rate risks
Risks of interest rate changes arise on the basis of changes to the market interest rate and may lead, with fixed-
rate financial instruments, to changes in the fair value through profit or loss and, with variable interest-bearing 
financial instruments, to interest payment fluctuations. Risks of interest rate changes are mainly of significance in 
the financial sector, but not in the operating sector.
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For the purpose of hedging interest rate risks from floating-rate loans, mIFA AG has entered into interest-rate 
swaps (notional amount EUR 11,000 thousand), caps (nominal EUR 9,000 thousand) and a floor (nominal 
EUR 5,000 thousand).

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of derivatives accounted for on the reporting date to a reasonable 
possible change in the interest rates (interest and currency-based transactions). These scenarios are orientated 
towards the specifications by the German Federal Authority for the supervision of Financial services (BaFin) for 
credit institutions and take into account the essential requirements in accordance with circulars 7 / 2007 and 
11 / 2011 in the case of a sudden and unexpected change in interest rates (interest rate shock). The extent of the 
interest rate shock is calculated in circular 07 / 2007 on the basis of the 1st and 99th percentiles of the changes in 
interest rates observed over the past five years. The difference between the reference interest rate on each day 
and that for 240 days previously is determined for each trading day for these five years. Presently, the level of the 
both interest rate shocks amounts to +200 basis points and -200 basis points. These interest rate shocks have been 
considered as an ad hoc („overnight“) parallel shift in the yield curve by the predetermined value. The scenarios 
have been selected very conservatively and should be considered as a sort of stress test. If all other variables 
remain constant, the annual earnings before tax will be affected as follows:

Increase / decrease 
in basis points

Effects on  
the earnings 

before tax 
EUR thousand

2012 +200 +537

-200 -639

2011 +200 +650

-200 -703

2. Events after the reporting date for the financial statements
No reportable events occurred after the reporting date.

3. Contingencies and other financial obligations
In the 2012 financial year, mIFA AG joined a consortium which established a bicycle rental system in Warsaw, 
Poland. Within the framework of this consortium agreement, mIFA AG assumes joint and several liability in the 
event of the consortium manager‘s absence. In connection with the takeover and continuation of the consortium 
obligation, mIFA AG assumes that the cost risk will only have an insignificant impact on the results of operations 
of the Group.

other financial obligations comprise purchasing commitments for raw materials, consumables and supplies of 
approximately EUR 29,000 thousand (2011: EUR 6,500 thousand). These comprise euros, Us dollar and Japanese 
yen, in equal parts. There are otherwise no further other financial obligations.

4. Business transactions with related parties
Apart from the Board of management activities of mr. Peter Wicht, no business transactions were conducted with 
related parties in the 2012 financial year.

As of 31 December 2012, no receivables and payables were connected with related parties. 



To our shareholders | Group management report | Consolidated financial statements   99

5. Auditor‘s fees
The total fee for the auditor of mIFA AG calculated for the financial year amounts to EUR 240 thousand. The fee is 
broken down as follows:        

EUR thousand

a) Financial statement auditing services 90

b) other assurance services 140

c) other services 10

Total 240

6. Board of Management and Supervisory Board 
During the period under review, mr. Peter Wicht, Wohlmirstedt, was the sole CEo of mIFA AG.

The remuneration for the CEo amounted to EUR 330 thousand.

In return for their activities the members of the supervisory Board received a fixed remuneration amounting to 
EUR 22 thousand (2011: EUR 14 thousand). No variable remunerations were granted. The following gentlemen 
were members of the company’s supervisory Board in the year under review:

 » Uwe lichtenhahn, mannheim (Chairman), former Director of sparkasse (savings bank)

 »  hans Joachim Rust, Gau-Algesheim (vice Chairman, until 11 may 2012), head of Risk management,  
mCE-Bank Gmbh

 »  Professor Dr.-Ing. Klaus-Dietrich Kramer, Berga (from 28 February 2012), head of the Institut für Automatisierung 
und Informatik Gmbh (institute for automation and computer sciences) Centre for Industrial Research and 
Development, Wernigerode

 » Ralf Poschmann, sangerhausen (vice Chairman from 11 may 2012), mayor of the City of sangerhausen.

mr. lichtenhahn and mr. Rust are also members of the supervisory Board of hyrican Informationssysteme AG, 
Kindelbrück. mr. Poschmann is also supervisory Board chairman at Kommunale Bädergesellschaft mbh, stadtwerke 
sangerhausen Gmbh, sangerhäuser Erneuerbare Energien und service Gesellschaft mbh, and städtische 
Wohnungsbaugesellschaft mbh sangerhausen. he is also member of various other German company boards.

sangerhausen, April 2013

mIFA mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG 
Peter Wicht 
CEo
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Acquisition and production costs Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment Carrying amounts

EUR thousand
As of  

1.1.2012

Addition 
through 

company 
mergers

other  
added Disposals

As of 
31.12.2012

As of  
1.1.2012

Depreciation, 
amortisation 

and impairment 
losses for the 
financial year Disposals

As of 
31.12.2012

As of  
31.12.2011

As of 
31.12.2012

Intangible assets   

IT software 594 6 64 0 664 456 75 0 531 138 133

Industrial property 
rights and licenses

 
1,073

 
415

 
156

 
0

 
1,644

 
739

 
245

 
0

 
984

 
334

 
660

Customer relationships 5,390 2,948 777 0 9,115 3,851 1,131 0 4,982 1,539 4,133

Goodwill 0 463 0 0 463 0 0 0 0 0 463

7,057 3,832 997 0 11,886 5,046 1,451 0 6,497 2,011 5,389

Property, plant 
and equipment 

  

land and buildings 8,789 0 0 0 8,789 2,674 527 0 3,201 6,115 5,588

Technical equipment 
and machinery

 
11,237

 
0

 
1,765

 
0

 
13,002

5,864 968 0 6,832 5,373 6,170

operating and 
office equipment

 
2,449

 
356

 
778

 
138

 
3,445

 
1,678

 
501

 
81

 
2,098

 
771

 
1,347

Plant under construction 166 7 842 0 1,015 0 0 0 0 166 1,015

22,641 363 3,385 138 26,251 10,216 1,996 81 12,131 12,425 14,120

Fixed assets 29,698 4,195 4,382 138 38,137 15,262 3,447 81 18,628 14,436 19,509

consolIdated stateMent oF  
chanGes In non-current assets  
as of 31 december 2012
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Acquisition and production costs Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment Carrying amounts

EUR thousand
As of  

1.1.2012

Addition 
through 

company 
mergers

other  
added Disposals

As of 
31.12.2012

As of  
1.1.2012

Depreciation, 
amortisation 

and impairment 
losses for the 
financial year Disposals

As of 
31.12.2012

As of  
31.12.2011

As of 
31.12.2012

Intangible assets   
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rights and licenses
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and equipment 
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Technical equipment 
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operating and 
office equipment
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2,098
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1,347

Plant under construction 166 7 842 0 1,015 0 0 0 0 166 1,015

22,641 363 3,385 138 26,251 10,216 1,996 81 12,131 12,425 14,120

Fixed assets 29,698 4,195 4,382 138 38,137 15,262 3,447 81 18,628 14,436 19,509
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audItors' report 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the 

MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG, Sangerhausen 

comprising the balance sheet, the income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group management report for the business 
year from 1th of January to 31th of December 2012. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and 
the group management report in accordance with IFRss as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements 
of German commercial law pursuant to § [Article] 315a Abs. [paragraph] 1 hGB [handelsgesetzbuch: German 
Commercial Code] are the responsibility of the parent company's management. our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report based on my/our 
audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 hGB and 
German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as 
to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of 
the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the 
framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in 
consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRss as 
adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 hGB and 
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance 
with these requirements. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements 
and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks 
of future development.

halle / saale, 5 April 2013

mittelrheinische Treuhand Gmbh 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Nitzsche-lezoch   Weichert 
Wirtschaftsprüfer   Wirtschaftsprüfer
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